

VMU-C EM



Web Server system for energy monitoring

Instruction manual

Version A6

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1	INST	ALLATION	4
	1.1	PRELIMINARY REMARKS	4
	1.2	PACKAGE CONTENT	4
	1.3	TECHNICAL FEATURES	5
	1.4	INSTALLATION AND CONNECTIONS	6
2	GEN	ERAL OVERVIEW	8
	21	VMULCEM	8
	2.2	ACCESS TO THE SYSTEM	
	2.3	HOME PAGE	
	2.3.2	1 NAVIGATION MENU	
3	SETT	rings	14
	3 1	SYSTEM CONFIGURATION	14
	3.1	1 PLANT DATA SETTING	15
	312	2 I AN SETTING	17
	3.1.3	3 NTP SERVER SETTING	
	3.1.4	4 DP SERVICE SETTING	
	3.1.5	5 FTP SERVICE CONFIGURATION	
	3.1.6	6 MODBUS TCP	
	3.1.2	7 THE VMU-W MODEM	
	3.1.8	8 ALARM SENDING CONFIGURATION	
	3.1.9	9 PLANNING CONFIGURATION	
	3.1.1	10 E-MAIL (OUTGOING MAIL SERVER) CONFIGURATION	
	3.1.1	11 UPDATING THE VMU-C FIRMWARE	
	3.1.1	12 TOOLS	
	3.1.1	13 LANGUAGE SETTING	45
	3.2	PLANT CONFIGURATION	46
	3.2.1	1 COM SETUP	
	3.2.2	2 DRIVERS	47
	3.2.3	3 PLANT SETTING	
	3.2.4	4 CONFIGURATION OF THE VMU-O MODULES (VMU-O EM)	
	3.2.5	5 ENERGY METER CONFIGURATION	
	3.2.6	6 COUNTERS CONFIGURATION	
	3.2.2	7 ENERGY METER DELETION	
	3.3		
	3.3.2	I ALARM CONFIGURATION ON VMU-P MODULES	
	3.4 2 E		
	3.5		03
	3.0 2.7		
	3.7 3.7	1 RESUME (SYSTEM) CONFIGURATION	
	3.7.	2 IMPORT (SYSTEM CONFIGURATION)	
	3.8	"OTHER VARIABLES" SETTING	69
		45 DA CE	
4	HON	AE PAGE	71
5	MO	NITOR - METER DATA ANALYSIS	73
	5.1	"CURRENTS" CHART	76
	5.2	"POWER FACTORS" CHART	77
	5.3	"VOLTAGES" CHART	
	5.4		
	5.5		
	5.0		82



6	PLANT DATA CHARTS	
	6.1 ENERGY DATA	
	6.1.1 MAIN METER	
	6.1.2 ENERGY METERS (PARTIAL)	
	6.2 COUNTERS (GENERIC FROM DIGITAL INPUTS)	
	6.3 TRENDS	92
	6.3.1 Trends Editing	
	6.3.2 Trends Displaying	
	6.4 REAL TIME VARIABLES	95
	6.5 OTHER VARIABLES	97
	6.5.1 ANALOGUE INPUT	
	6.5.2 TEMPERATURE	
	6.5.3 PULSE RATE INPUT	
7	GENERAL CHART FEATURES	
	7.1 ZOOM FEATURE	
	7.2 REFRESH FEATURE	
	7.3 PRINT FEATURE	
8	ALARMS	
	8.1 COMMANDS	
9	ECONOMIC ANALYSIS	
9 10	ECONOMIC ANALYSIS D INFORMATION 10.1 VMU-C STATUS 10.2 PLANT CHARACTERISTICS	
9 10 11	ECONOMIC ANALYSIS D INFORMATION 10.1 VMU-C STATUS 10.2 PLANT CHARACTERISTICS 1 DATA EXPORT	
9 10 11 12	ECONOMIC ANALYSIS	
9 10 11 12	ECONOMIC ANALYSIS D INFORMATION 10.1 VMU-C STATUS 10.2 PLANT CHARACTERISTICS 1 DATA EXPORT 2 ACCOUNT 12.1 ACCOUNT MANAGEMENT	
9 10 11 12	ECONOMIC ANALYSIS D INFORMATION 10.1 VMU-C STATUS 10.2 PLANT CHARACTERISTICS 1 DATA EXPORT 2 ACCOUNT 12.1 ACCOUNT MANAGEMENT 12.2 ADDING A NEW ACCOUNT	
9 10 11 12	ECONOMIC ANALYSIS D INFORMATION 10.1 VMU-C STATUS 10.2 PLANT CHARACTERISTICS 1 DATA EXPORT 2 ACCOUNT 12.1 ACCOUNT MANAGEMENT 12.2 ADDING A NEW ACCOUNT 12.3 UPDATING AN ACCOUNT	
9 10 11 12	ECONOMIC ANALYSIS D INFORMATION 10.1 VMU-C STATUS 10.2 PLANT CHARACTERISTICS 1 DATA EXPORT 2 ACCOUNT 12.1 ACCOUNT MANAGEMENT 12.2 ADDING A NEW ACCOUNT 12.3 UPDATING AN ACCOUNT 12.4 DELETING AN ACCOUNT	
9 10 11 12	ECONOMIC ANALYSIS D INFORMATION 10.1 VMU-C STATUS 10.2 PLANT CHARACTERISTICS 1 DATA EXPORT 2 ACCOUNT 12.1 ACCOUNT 12.1 ACCOUNT 12.2 ADDING A NEW ACCOUNT 12.3 UPDATING AN ACCOUNT 12.4 DELETING AN ACCOUNT 12.5 LOGGING OFF AN ACCOUNT	
9 10 11 12	ECONOMIC ANALYSIS D INFORMATION 10.1 VMU-C STATUS 10.2 PLANT CHARACTERISTICS 1 DATA EXPORT 12 ACCOUNT 12.1 ACCOUNT 12.1 ACCOUNT 12.1 ACCOUNT 12.2 ADDING A NEW ACCOUNT 12.3 UPDATING AN ACCOUNT 12.4 DELETING AN ACCOUNT 12.5 LOGGING OFF AN ACCOUNT 12.6 HISTORY OF ACCESSES TO THE SYSTEM	
9 10 11 12 13	ECONOMIC ANALYSIS D INFORMATION 10.1 VMU-C STATUS 10.2 PLANT CHARACTERISTICS 1 DATA EXPORT 2 ACCOUNT 12.1 ACCOUNT 12.1 ACCOUNT 12.2 ADDING A NEW ACCOUNT 12.3 UPDATING AN ACCOUNT 12.4 DELETING AN ACCOUNT 12.5 LOGGING OFF AN ACCOUNT 12.6 HISTORY OF ACCESSES TO THE SYSTEM 3 DATA BACK-UP	
9 10 11 12 13	ECONOMIC ANALYSIS D INFORMATION 10.1 VMU-C STATUS 10.2 PLANT CHARACTERISTICS 1 DATA EXPORT 12 ACCOUNT 12.1 ACCOUNT 12.1 ACCOUNT 12.2 ADDING A NEW ACCOUNT 12.3 UPDATING AN ACCOUNT 12.4 DELETING AN ACCOUNT 12.5 LOGGING OFF AN ACCOUNT 12.6 HISTORY OF ACCESSES TO THE SYSTEM 3 DATA BACK-UP 13.1 RESTORING THE CONFIGURATION FROM BACK-UP (FROM FILE)	
9 10 11 12 13	ECONOMIC ANALYSIS D INFORMATION 10.1 VMU-C STATUS 10.2 PLANT CHARACTERISTICS 10.1 DATA EXPORT 12.1 ACCOUNT 12.1 ACCOUNT 12.1 ACCOUNT 12.2 ADDING A NEW ACCOUNT 12.3 UPDATING AN ACCOUNT 12.4 DELETING AN ACCOUNT 12.5 LOGGING OFF AN ACCOUNT 12.6 HISTORY OF ACCESSES TO THE SYSTEM 3 DATA BACK-UP 13.1 RESTORING THE CONFIGURATION FROM BACK-UP (FROM FILE) 13.2 RESTORING THE DATA-BASE FROM BACK-UP (DISASTER RECOVFRY)	
9 10 11 12 13	ECONOMIC ANALYSIS INFORMATION 10.1 VMU-C STATUS 10.2 PLANT CHARACTERISTICS 10.1 VMU-C STATUS 10.2 PLANT CHARACTERISTICS 1 DATA EXPORT 12.1 ACCOUNT MANAGEMENT 12.1 ACCOUNT MANAGEMENT 12.2 ADDING A NEW ACCOUNT 12.3 UPDATING AN ACCOUNT 12.4 DELETING AN ACCOUNT 12.5 LOGGING OFF AN ACCOUNT 12.6 HISTORY OF ACCESSES TO THE SYSTEM 3 DATA BACK-UP 13.1 RESTORING THE CONFIGURATION FROM BACK-UP (FROM FILE) 13.2 RESTORING THE DATA-BASE FROM BACK-UP (DISASTER RECOVERY) 13.2.1 CONFIGURATION RESTORE	

1 INSTALLATION

1.1 PRELIMINARY REMARKS

This manual provides a comprehensive guide to VMUC-C EM (WebServer) installation, configuration and commissioning; it is addressed to technical staff members having an average knowledge of IT and of TCP/IP networking basic principles.

VMUC is a web server and provides a comprehensive monitoring system for devices like power analysers (WM series), electric power meters (EM series), water/gas meters and environmental sensors.

The software and all the components needed for panel operation require no installation of additional software components.

1.2 PACKAGE CONTENT

VMU-C EM is supplied in its package, along with the following items:

- VMU-C Web Server
- Installation manual



1.3 TECHNICAL FEATURES

VMUC-EM is micro PC, totally fanless and without any moving components, providing WebServer functions; thanks to the use of industrial hardware, to its extremely small size and to its low energy consumption it is ideal for monitoring applications requiring features like sturdiness and reliability along time; it can be installed in both technical and residential environments, without requiring any special caution during installation, usage and maintenance.

Ports and connections	1 X 12 to 28Vdc power supply (A1+ and A2-) 2 X RS-485 (COM1 and COM2) :
	Data – (A-) Data + (B+) GND Data – (A-) Data + (B+) GND Data + (B+) GND GND GND
	1 X RJ-45 connector for 10/100 Base-T Ethernet [Communication]
	[Communication port – Default IP: 192.168.1.110]
	Pin 1 TX+
	Pin 2 TX-
	Pin 3 Rx+
	EIA/TIA-568B
	1 X standard LISB
	1 X mini USB (through a dedicated driver it allows to access the system through the IP address 192.168.254.254) 1 X slot for micro SD or SDHC memory card
Absorption	5W Max.
Operating conditions	-25°C to 40°C
COM port termination	Both COM ports are internally terminated with a value of 150Ω and polarised with two 511Ω resistors (from "B+" to +5V and from "A-" to GND). As a consequence no other external connection is required.

The following table provides a summary list of the product characteristics:









1.4 INSTALLATION AND CONNECTIONS

To install VMU-C EM you need to perform the following steps:

- Connect the DC 24Vdc power supply (12Vdc to 28Vdc) through an appropriately sized feeder (recommended feeders: CG, SPM or SPD series)
- COM1: communication port for the connection to the RS-485 bus for VMUM-EM temperature measurement master devices (Pt100 or Pt1000; 2 or 3 wires), analogue inputs (mV or mA) or for digital input status monitoring (open/closed).

You may connect up to 10 VMU-M EM systems with the relevant VMU-P EM and/or VMU-O EM modules.



All the VMU-M EM devices connected to the COM1 port will have to be set to the same baud rate.

 COM2: communication port for the connection on RS-485 bus of the electric power meters. The cascade-connected devices can communicate ad different baud rates (communication speeds) while using different communication addresses.

You may connect up to 32 instruments (meters and/or analysers).

The following figure lists the compatible instruments as of the current date:

BRAND	DRIVER	VERSION	INSTRUMENT	
CARLO GAVAZZI	EM12	1.2	Energy Meter	
CARLO GAVAZZI	EM21	2.3	Energy Meter	
CARLO GAVAZZI	EM21_R	1.2	Energy Meter	
CARLO GAVAZZI	EM23	1.1	Energy Meter	
CARLO GAVAZZI	EM24	1.1	Energy Meter	
CARLO GAVAZZI	EM26	1.1	Energy Meter	
CARLO GAVAZZI	EM33	2.1	Energy Meter	
CARLO GAVAZZI	VMU-E_DIRECT	1.1	Energy Meter	
CARLO GAVAZZI	VMU-E_SENSOR	1.1	Energy Meter	
CARLO GAVAZZI	VMU-E_SHUNT	1.1	Energy Meter	
CARLO GAVAZZI	WM30	2.2	Energy Meter	
CARLO GAVAZZI	WM40	2.3	Energy Meter	

AVAILABLE DRIVER LIST

List of the available energy meter drivers

The log data recorded throughout the day shall be available to be shown in graphical form for 6 months. The daily data, that is the summary values of each day shall be available to be shown in graphical form for 10 years.

- Connect the system to the data network through a standard Ethernet cable, using the LAN communication port configured with the default static IP address 192.168.1.110
- Connect the GPRS/EDGE/UMTS/HSDPA modem by means of the VMU-W module through inner bus (optional).

Once power is supplied to the VMU-C EM, the following LEDs will light up on the front panel: green "ON" LED (indicating the machine is powered), orange "BUS" LED (indicating inner BUS activity), orange "COM1" and COM2 LEDs (indicating COM door activity), blue "USB" LED (indicating the presence of an USB device) and red "AL" LED (indicating the presence of any alarm condition); when connecting the network cable, the Ethernet port LEDS will light up as well.

After connecting and powering the VMU-C, access its configuration Web pages as described in the next chapter.



2 GENERAL OVERVIEW

2.1 VMU-C EM

VMU-C is conventional energy monitoring Web server based on Web technology. Once properly set up, the VMU-C EM software can be used through the net – both LAN and Internet – through any PC or device equipped with a common Internet browser.

As VMU-C EM is based on the Web technology, it can be used as an ordinary Web site; the data and status display function for the devices installed in the plant (analysers, meters, environmental sensors) is based on the innovative AJAX technology, allowing to send and receive information without having to reload the graphical pages.

2.2 ACCESS TO THE SYSTEM

To access the system, you first need to establish a network connection between your PC and VMU-C EM, using the LAN port existing on the device; you have the following options:

- Directly connect the two devices (VMU-C EM and PC) through a network cable
- Connect both devices (VMU-C EM and PC) to your local network
- Directly connect the two devices (VMU-C EM and PC) through a USB/mini-USB cable.

The VMU-C EM default address is **192.168.1.110**; in any connection configuration; this implies that, in order to be able to communicate with VMU-C, your PC must belong to the same sub-network; that means its IP address must be *"192.168.1.x"*, where "x" must be a number ranging between 1 and 254, other than 100.

Technical support operators can also communicate with the VMU-C EM through the same LAN port, using the address 192.168.253.254 (this address is fixed and cannot be changed).

If using a mini-USB cable to connect the devices, use the address 192.168.254.254.

If your network setting is different (the first 3 number are not the prescribed ones) you need to temporarily modify your network setting as specified above; then, as described below, after accessing the software you can modify the VMU-C EM network parameters, to ensure that it is compatible with your network, and finally restore your original network setting.

After configuring your IP address, open an Internet browser and type the following address:

http://192.168.1.110



The system will display the following access page:



Fig.– System access page

Clicking the "SIGN-IN" button will access the Login page.

The following are the default username and password:

Username	name Password Name		Level	
admin	admin	admin	administrator	

To prevent any undesired access to the system, we recommend that you change the default password, particularly if you use Internet connectivity.



2.3 HOME PAGE

The figure below shows the VMU-C EM home page:



Home Page

In particular, we have highlighted the following items, which are always available while using the software:

- a) Main Menu: it includes the "Navigation Menu"
- b) Lh frame: starting from the top:
 - Plant status. The system reports the overall status and a synoptic showing the alert status for each category (alarms, anomalies, events, commands) and the relevant counters. The COM ports status is also displayed .



• Production data (automatic data update).



- Instantaneous AC Power (active and reactive)- Instant power (kW,kvar) measured by the energy meter. The piece of data comes from the reference Energy meter (real or virtual), depending on the settings included in the "Energy Meters Configuration".
- Total AC Energy Total Energy (active and reactive)measured by the energy meter. The piece of data comes from the reference Energy meter (real or virtual), depending on the settings included in the "Energy Meters Configuration".

• Costs section.



Energy costs, calculated at yearly, monthly and daily level, starting from the energy consumption measured by the main meter and the tariff profiled set-up in the relevant configuration section

Rh frame: from the top:

- Log-off button Click the button to log off of the VMU-C EM and return to the access page.
- Username
- PC's date and time.
- Values of the voltages for the main meter (green frame). In this frame data are continuously updated.



System PH-PH	
0.00 V	
Phase 1	
0.00 V	
Phase 2	
0.00 V	
Phase 3	
0.00 V	

Value of the line voltages for the system and for the star voltages (phase1n, phase2n and phase3n). These values concern the reference instrument (real or virtual). If the reference instrument is virtual, each voltage value shown to the side is calculated as the average of all the relevant voltages of the real instruments set as contributors.

Example:

```
LLsys Voltage= [VLLsys(st1)+VLLsys(st2)+VLLsys(st3)+VLLsys(st.)]/n

L1N Voltage = [VL1N(st1)+VL1N(st2)+VL1N(st3)+VL1N(st...)]/n

L2N Voltage = [VL2N(st1)+VL2N(st2)+VL2N(st3)+VL2N(st...)]/n

L3N Voltage = [VLN3(st1)+VLN3(st2)+VLN3(st3)+VLN3(st...)]/n
```

Where LLsys, L1N, L2N and L3N Voltage represent the values displayed in the green frame. L1N(st1) represents the phase1-neutral voltage of instrument 1, L2N(st2) the phase2-neutral voltage of instrument 2, L3N(st3) represents the phase3-neutral voltage of instrument 3 and so on ... "n" represents the amount of instruments set as "contribution".

• Values of the star voltages for the reference instrument (lower orange frame). In this frame data are continuously updated.

Phase 1	
33.58 A	
Phase 2	
33.58 A	
Phase 3	
19.94 A	

Current value for each phase. These values concern the reference instrument (real or virtual).

c) **Main Menu:** this area displays the selected variables in graphic form. The type of chart/displayed variables can change according to the selected icon (see navigation menu) and to the variable the user wishes to display. In the bottom section, besides, there is a frame displaying some information about the plant (name, location, ...).



2.3.1 NAVIGATION MENU

Hover your mouse over the different icons to display the relevant meaning in text form. Click on the icon to access the relevant section which will be displayed in the Main Frame.



Home

It allows to return to the main page.

Monitor

It allows to display in graphic form the main reference instrument data, like currents, voltages (VLL and VLN), power (kW and kvar), power factor (PF) and, if available, the analogue variables (°C and/or mA and/or mV).

Plant

It allows to display in graphical form all the acquired system data.

Alarms

It allows to display the alarms that have been raised in the plant.

Economy

It allows to display in graphic form the economic countervalues from consumption monitoring.

Information

A tab displaying the plant characteristics.

Export

It allows to stored data to xls format.

Setting (Only available for Administrator users)

It allows to access the system configuration menu.

Account (Only available for Administrator users)

It allows to access the Account management question.

Help

It opens the online Help remotely hosted on Carlo Gavazzi's servers





3 SETTINGS

Click on the "Configuration" icon in the Navigation Menu (Fig. 6) to access the whole system Configuration section.

渝		d.		\$	6		*	R	?
Home	Monitor	Plant	Alarms	Economy	Information	Export	Setting	Account	Help
							-		
				System	Settings				

Three main configuration menus (SYSTEM, PLANT and OTHER VARIABLES) will be displayed on the screen:

SYSTEM	

3.1 SYSTEM CONFIGURATION

Clicking on the "SYSTEM" menu will display the following sub-menus:





3.1.1 PLANT DATA SETTING

Accessing the "PLANT DATA" menu will open the plant description page.

3.1.1.1 **DESCRIPTION SETTING**

Clicking on the "DESCRIPTION" menu will display the main page providing a plant description:

		PLANT DESC	RIPTION			
"А" Рі	ant Name VMUC-E	M DATA PUSH				
Plant	Location Ponte Ne	elle Alpi				
Plant	Property Carlo Ga	vazzi				
	Installer Carlo Ga	vazzi				
VMU-C Installa	tion Date 2014-02-)4 yyyy-mm-dd		Cu	rrency €	
		CONTRACT HI	GHLIGHIS			
"D" Fixed Monthl	ly Costs kWh	Jnit Cost kva	arh Unit Cost	Wmax Monthly	Cost Max Co	ontractual Peak
Tariff P 200	0.0€	1.5 €	0.5 €	3.0	€	100.0 kW
Tariff 2 150	0.0€	0.75€	0.5 €	3.0	€	100.0 kW
		Save Set	ting			
	TARI	FF CALENDAR C	ONFIGURATI	DN		
((0))		T1 Start 1	T1 End 1		T1 Start 2	T1 End 2
Tariff T Unterval	Working Day	08 🔻	12 🔻		13 🔻	18 🔻
Holidays 🗌 I	Mon 🗌 Tue	🗌 Wen	🔲 Thu	🔲 Fri	🗹 Sat	🗷 Sun
All period outside ta	riff T1 range, are au	tomatically included	l in the tariff T2. A	ll holidays are ir	ncluded into ta	ariff T2.
		Save Set	ting			

Plant Data Configuration

The "**Plant description**" section (see the hatched area "**A**") allows to enter the general plant data (name, location, date of installation, ...) to simplify the management of the plant itself. In the "Currency" box the user can specify the reference currency for VMU-C EM (\in , £, \$, ...).

The "*Contract highlights*" section (see the hatched area "**B**") displays economy information, concerning the type of contract signed with the energy provider utility (fixed costs, unit costs, contractual limits, etc.). These data must be edited using the point "." as decimal mark (should you use the comma"," edited data will not be saved).

Note: when configuring the economic data (see frame "B") we recommend that you refer to the contract signed with the relevant utility.

In section "*Tariff Calendar Configuration*" (see the hatched area "C") the user can define which weekdays shall be considered as *holidays* (by exclusion, non-selected days shall be considered as *working days*).



For working days, besides, the user will be able to define two tariffs (*T1 and T2*) for which the individual kWh cost will be different. Within the working day the user will be able to define two periods to be associated with tariff "T1".

Note: any rime periods not included in tariff "T1" will be automatically included in tariff T2. For holidays, the T2 tariff shall always be used.

Press "Save setting" to store the data into VMU-C EM.



3.1.2 LAN SETTING

Clicking on "LAN SETTING" will grant access to the page shown below.

		I	NETWOR	K SETTING			
	VMU-C Name				VMU-C 0 1	(Example: VM	U-C01)
Use the following	IP Address:			🔘 Get an IF	address Auto	matically (DHCP)	"A" area
	IP Address:	192.168.	3.221				
"B" area	Subnet Mask:	255.255.	255.0				
	Default Gateway:	192.168.	3.18				
Use the following	DNS server addresse	es:		🙂 Get DNS	Server addres	s automatically	
Prefe	rred DNS server:	192.168.	3.2				
Alterna	ative DNS server:				"C" are	a	
			Save	Setting			
	Đ	YNAMIC	IP ADD	ESS MANA	AGEMENT		
🗌 Enable Dyn	namic DNS	Server D	ynamic DNS	DynDns.or	g 🔻]	
			Hostname				
	"D" area		Username	e			
	D alea		Password	ł			
			Save	Setting			
••••••	•••••		•••••	•••••	•••••		

Network settings

g

This page consists of three sections:

1) <u>Network setting</u>

To configure the LAN port, you can choose between two options:

- Get an IP address automatically (DHCP) (see "A" area) : the address is automatically acquired when switching on the VMU-C EM from a DHCP server, which must exist inside the network the device is connected to. The IP address will be dynamic and not known in advance. In this case you can reach VMU-C from within the same network by typing on the browser the Machine Name assigned to it (e.g. VMU-C01).
- Use the following IP address (Static routing) (see "B" area): you need to manually specify an IP address along with a network mask and a default gateway.

In the absence of a network administrator who can provide the correct network parameters, assign an address belonging to the same class as those of the other devices existing on the same network, and indicate "255.255.255.0" as the network mask.

The default gateway is only mandatory if you plan to access VMU-C EM through the Internet using the LAN connection; in this case, indicate in this field the IP address of the ADSL router.





 Finally, you can manually specify the addresses of the preferred and alternative DNS servers to be used to access the Internet by selecting (Use the following DNS server addresses) (see "C" area); as an alternative, if the LAN port is set to DHCP mode, you can allow VMU-C EM to acquire the DNS server address from the DHCP server, by enabling the option (Get DNS server address Automatically).

Press the "*Save setting*" button to store the network setting. To apply the new settings, VMU-C needs a restart, which is performed automatically; wait until the count-down is over; then you'll routed back to the home page.

The system requires to have access to the Internet for the following services:

- To send e-mails to the configured SMTP server.
- To synchronise the date and time settings through the NTP service (if configured).

Note: to ensure that VMU-C EM is accessible from the outside through a LAN connection, it needs to be appropriately re-routed to the ADSL Modem or Router (NAT- Port forwarding) to which it is connected. **The ports to be re-routed** are: **80** *and* **52325**.

2) Dynamic public IP address management

Should you not have at your disposal a static public IP address allowing to reach the VMU-C from the Internet, but should you have to use any public IP addresses dynamically assigned by your ISP (Internet Service Provider), you may resort to DNS server managers keeping the dynamic public IP address constantly synchronised with a domain name (see "D" area). The managers with which VMU-C EM is compliant are *DynDns.org*, *DynDns.it* and *No-ip.com*. To access the service you need to connect to http://www.dyndns.org/ (or http://www.dyndns.org/ (or wttp://www.dyndns.org/ (or http

To enable the management of the dynamic public IP address you need to:

- Check "Enable dynamic DNS".
- Type the name of the chosen Dynamic DNS host.
- Type the Username and Password provided during account registration.

Click on "Save setting"

Note: Carlo Gavazzi has no commercial or technical agreement with any Dynamic DNS service provider; the above compliancy is meant as a tool to allow customer to use some of the major dynamic DNS infrastructure available in the market





DYNAMIC IP ADDRESS MANAGEMENT					
Enable Dynamic DNS	Server Dynamic DNS DynDns.org				
	Hostname				
	Username				
	Password				
	Save Setting				

Dynamic public IP address management

The service will be available after about 6 minutes.

Note: Resorting to this service is often necessary when the Internet connection is established through a GPRS/UMTS modem or when you don't have any static IP address on your ADSL line. Mobile providers typically don't provide a static IP address.

3.1.3 NTP SERVER SETTING

Clicking on "NTP SERVER" will grant access to the page shown below: CLOCK SYNCHRONISATION

Enabling Network Clock Synchronisation					
NTP Server 1:	ntp1.inrim.it				
NTP Server 2:	ntp2.inrim.it				
Save Setting					
NTP Ser	ver setting				

You can set up to two NTP servers. Enabling this server type allows to constantly synchronise the DATE and TIME data.



3.1.4 **DP SERVICE SETTING**

The DP service is the highly secure and efficient protocol that VMU-C uses to exchange information with Eos-Server and VMU-Y.

The protocol is based on a Web-Service oriented architecture based on HTTP.

Please check Em²-Server and VMU-Y documentation for information about those systems.

Both Em²-Server and VMU-Y allow users to build distributed systems where VMU-C EM is a gateway in a charge of gathering data from the plant and route information to a centralized database (Em²-Server /VMU-Y)



Em²-Server architecture



DP Service Menu



3.1.4.1 **DP SERVICE SETTINGS**

By selecting the Setting submenu it is possible to access the DP Service configuration page.



DP Service configuration

The parameters to set to successfully join the Em²-Server /VMU-Y are:

Parameter	Description			
Server Address	It is the internet address of the Em ² -Server / VMU-Y			
GPS coordinates	The GPS coordinates of the VMU-C; they may be set			
Upload time interval	It is the time interval between two distinct data upload transactions from VMU-C to Em ² -Server /VMU-Y It depends on available bandwidth (on both sides), amount of data to push, Internet congestion. Typically "10 minutes" is a good compromise			
Command Processing interval	It is the time interval between two distinct request-for- commands transactions from VMU-C to Em ² -Server /VMU-Y; VMU-C asks Em ² -Server / VMU-Y for commands at scheduled intervals and processes them accordingly. Typically it is equal to "Upload time interval"			

The available commands are:

Command	Description				
Test Connection	It allows to check if the configured parameters are good, and it is possible to establish a connection between VMU- C and Em ² -Server /VMU-Y				
Send	 It allows to send from VMU-C to Em²-Server /VMU-Y: Full configuration (after having finalized the VMU-C's configuration) Partial configuration (after having updated the 				



	 VMU-C's configuration) Command request (to force VMU-C to check if there are any pending commands on Em²-Server /VMU-Y)
Save setting	To save the configuration

Notes:

- 1) It is always advisable to fully finalize the VMU-C configuration before sending it to Eos-Server
- 2) VMU-C can successfully join Em²-Server only if the necessary license plan has been installed in the target server

3.1.4.2 **DP SERVICE LOGS**

Two sets of Logs are available within the data push section:

- Logs of transactions successfully completed
- Logs of transaction with errors

In both cases, up to 500 records are stored.

			LOGS ERROR					
1	Data 2014-02-17 15:19:25	2014-02-17 15:19:25	Base64 decoding error					
2	Data 2014-02-13 10:03:26	2014-02-13 10:03:27	Base64 decoding error					
3	Data 2014-02-12 09:48:15	2014-02-12 09:48:16	Base64 decoding error					
4	Data 2014-02-07 11:19:04	2014-02-07 11:19:04	Base64 decoding error					
5	Data 2014-02-03 14:47:35	2014-02-03 14:47:36	Base64 decoding error					
6	Data 2014-01-31 15:07:53	2014-01-31 15:07:54	Operation not permitted for an unlicensed device					
7	Data 2014-01-31 15:07:24	2014-01-31 15:07:25	Operation not permitted for an unlicensed device					
8	Data 2014-01-31 15:06:55	2014-01-31 15:06:56	Operation not permitted for an unlicensed device					
9	Data 2014-01-31 15:06:27	2014-01-31 15:06:27	Operation not permitted for an unlicensed device					
10	Data 2014-01-31 14:55:44	2014-01-31 14:55:45	Operation not permitted for an unlicensed device					
11	Data 2014-01-31 14:55:15	2014-01-31 14:55:16	Operation not permitted for an unlicensed device					
12	Data 2014-01-31 14:54:44	2014-01-31 14:54:44	Operation not permitted for an unlicensed device					
13	Data 2014-01-31	2014-01-31	Operation not permitted for an unlicensed device					

Data push logs



3.1.5 FTP SERVICE CONFIGURATION

By clicking on "FTP SERVICE" the following 3 sub-menu are presented:

FTP SERVICE	SETTING
MODEM	LOGS OK
ALARMS	LOGS ERROR

3.1.5.1 **AVAILABLE COMMUNICATION PROTOCOLS**

Two different protocols are available in the FTP section:

- a) FTP Push: it works by uploading files to a remote server upon a preconfigured schedule
- b) HTTP Pull: by means of an HTTP API (application program interface) it is possible for a remote client to poll data from the VMU-C on request

Both the protocols can be used together paying care not to exceed with HTTP-Pull requests (by sending too many requests at the same time it is possible to exceed the capacity of VMU-C thus causing overload).

In any case, neither FTP-Push nor HTTP-pull can be used together with the DP protocol (they match 2 different scenarios)

3.1.5.2 **FTP SERVICE SETTINGS**

By clicking on "SETTING" it is possible to configure the parameters needed to enable data communication from VMU-C to the customer's FTP server:

FTP SE	RVICE
SERVICE NOT AVAILABLE (FTP AND	OP SERVICE ARE AUTERNATIVELY
Server Address	88 32 230 187
Remote Directory	farale
Server User	wmuc_test
Server Password	****
Client User	test
Client Password	
Upload Time Interval	00 • . 10 • (bh:mm)
Alarms Flag	
Measurement Flag	×
First Delivery (Date / Time)	[16 ▼] - [10 ▼] + [2013 ▼] [15 ▼] : [03 ▼] : [00 ▼]
Save S	Latting
Test Con	mection

FTP Service

The relevant fields must be completed according to the following guideline:



 "Enable FTP Service": to be checked to enable data communication (both by FTP-push and HTTP-pull); both HTTP-pull and FTP-push are available at the same time.

In the case FTP communication is needed, the following fields must be completed:

- "Server Address": it is the Internet address of the FTP server to which VMU-C will upload data
- "Remote directory": the remote FTP server's directory to which data will be uploaded
- "Server user": the user name authorized to access the remote FTP server's directory
- "Server password": the password to be used together with the "Server user" to access the remote directory
- "Upload time interval" (hh:mm) : the interval time between two successive FTP upload actions (in the range 10 minutes 24 hours)
- "Alarms Flag": to be checked to enable the VMU-C's alarms upload to the FTP server
- "Measurements Flag": to be checked to enable the VMU-C's measurement upload to the FTP server
- "First Delivery" (date/time): date and time of the first upload action to the FTP server

In the case it is needed to exchange data using HTTP-pull, the VMU-C will send its response to an HTTP query sent by the remote system (automated HTTP client); for security reasons an authentication is needed to poll data, and the following fields must be completed prior to be able to perform HTTP requests:

- "Client User": user name to authenticate on VMU-C while executing a query
- "Client Password": password to authenticate on VMU-C while executing a query Press "Save Configuration" to confirm configuration changes.

After having completed the relevant fields for FTP communication it is suggested to push "Test connection" so as to check that everything is working correctly

3.1.5.3 **FTP SERVICE LOGS**

By clicking on the "LOGs OK" item, the following screenshot will appear, reporting all the FTP transactions completed correctly

	LOGS OK					
	DATE / TIME	IP ADDRESS	FILE	DETAILS	*	
1	2014-03-24 17:55:07	88.32.230.187	VMU-C_BL3080002001U_ AR_2014-03-24-17-55-07_S.csv		l	
2	2014-03-24 17:45:07	88.32.230.187	VMU-C_BL3080002001U_ AR_2014-03-24-17-45-07_S.csv		l	
3	2014-03-24 17:35:07	88.32.230.187	VMU-C_BL3080002001U_ AR_2014-03-24-17-35-07_S.csv			
4	2014-03-24 17:25:07	88.32.230.187	VMU-C_BL3080002001U_ AR_2014-03-24-17-25-07_S.csv			
5	2014-03-24 17:15:07	88.32.230.187	VMU-C_BL3080002001U_ AR_2014-03-24-17-15-07_S.csv			
6	2014-03-24 17:05:07	88.32.230.187	VMU-C_BL3080002001U_ AR_2014-03-24-17-05-07_S.csv			
7	2014-03-24 16:55:07	88.32.230.187	VMU-C_BL3080002001U_ AR_2014-03-24-16-55-07_S.csv			
8	2014-03-24 16:45:07	88.32.230.187	VMU-C_BL3080002001U_ AR_2014-03-24-16-45-07_S.csv			
9	2014-03-24 16:35:07	88.32.230.187	VMU-C_BL3080002001U_ AR_2014-03-24-16-35-07_S.csv			
10	2014-03-24 16:25:07	88.32.230.187	VMU-C_BL3080002001U_ AR_2014-03-24-16-25-07_S.csv			
11	2014-03-24 16:15:07	88.32.230.187	VMU-C_BL3080002001U_ AR_2014-03-24-16-15-07_S.csv			
12	2014-03-24 16:05:08	88.32.230.187	VMU-C_BL3080002001U_ AR_2014-03-24-16-05-08_S.csv		•	

The same is valid on the LOGS ERROR menu.



3.1.6 MODBUS TCP

Clicking on "MODBUS TCP" will display a sub-menu, "SLAVE", which allows setting the MODBUS TCP communication through the Ethernet port.

MODBU	IS TCP			
Modbus TCP Enabling				
Port	502			
Save S	etting			
Modbus TC	P Mapping			
Resume Configuration				

Fill in the fields according to the following specifications:

- *"Modbus TCP Enabling"*: check the relevant box to enable this function.
- *"Port"*: set the relevant Ethernet port. 502 is the standard for Modbus TCP.

Press "Save setting" key to store enabling and port settings.

Press "Modbus TCP Mapping" key to enter the Modbus TCP configuration page, where the runtime configuration (the last saved configuration) is shown.

In case some modifications are carried out to the configuration but not saved, next time the "Modbus TCP mapping" page is accessed, by pressing the "Resume Configuration" key, you can proceed with the interrupted modification process.

3.1.6.1 Modbus TCP Mapping

In the "Modbus TCP Mapping" page all the energy meters installed on the Modbus RTU bus (as defined in the Plant Configuration Wizard) are listed, ordered by serial address. Their tag name are shown in the Description field. The table also shows the relevant Modbus TCP address, whenever correctly assigned (green LED). A red LED shows if the relevant configuration is not correct (i.e. the selected TCP address is already used). A yellow LED shows if the instrument is disabled in the Modbus TCP mapping. The list includes the VMU-C itself: if equipped with analogue/temperature input modules, these variables can be retransmitted by Modbus TCP.



			Modbus TCP Mapping		
Back		Back	Create Map	Reset Map	
			Export PDF Map	Export XML Map	
Modbus RTU	Me	odbus 1CP	Description		
1	•	1	Offices_(commercial_area)	Setup	
2			Cabinet_MG.2	Setup	
3	•	3	Cabinet_MG.1	Setup	
. 4			Production_department	Setup	
				And in case of the local division of the loc	

Press the "Create map" key to save the modifications and create the Modbus TCP map in VMU-C.

Press the "Export PDF map" or "Export XML map" to create the map in PDF format or as an XML files to be exported to implement the Modbus TCP map in the relevant master. Press the "Reset TCP map" to reset and regenerate all the maps: in the latter case all the variables added in a second time will be re-aligned with the other ones.

3.1.6.2 Modbus TCP Configuration

Press the "Setup" key close to the meter description to set its Modbus TCP parameters by means of the following page.

Energy Me	ter - Modbus TPC Configuration
Back	Same
Description	Offices_(commercial_area)
Enable Modbus TPC Mapping	2
Nodbus TCP Address	1
Variables Available	Selection Filters
 ✓ AL1 ✓ AL2 ✓ AL3 ✓ PF L1 ✓ PF L2 ✓ PF L3 ✓ PF sys 	Reactive Power
□ Phase sequence □ VL12 □ 30.58	All

Fill in the fields according to the following specifications:



- *"Enable Modbus TCP Mapping"*: check the relevant box to enable the selected meter in the Modbus TCP map.
- *"Modbus TCP address"*: set the relevant Modbus TCP address (1 to 247)
- *"Variables Available":* check the variables that must be retransmitted among the list of all the available ones.

A set of keys allow to help in the variable selection: "All" key to select all the available variables, "None" key to unselect all the variables, "Filter" key to enable/disable (toggle button) the variables described in the above combo box. In the example picture above, pressing "Filter" will enable/disable all the Reactive Power variables (system and single phase var).

In case a variable is deleted or added in a second time, please refer to next paragraph.

Press "Save" key to store the modifications, "Back" to go back to the previous page without saving.

3.1.6.3 Notes about Modbus TCP Mapping in VMU-C EM

The data format is IEEE754 (even if differently managed by the meter, e.g. INT 32) for all the instantaneous variables; it is INT64 with 0,1 kWh (or m3) resolution for all the meters or utility counters.

The web server and the Modbus TCP slave communication work at the same time over the Ethernet port of VMU-C EM.

When the Modbus TCP map is created, the variable are listed following a predefined order.

In case a variable is deleted in a second time, the relevant Modbus memory address will be left empty. In this case the floating point value FFFF FFFFh (meaning "NaN", "not a number") or the UINT64 value FFFF FFFF FFFF FFFFh can be read in this memory address.

In case a variable is added in a second time, the relevant Modbus memory address will be automatically assigned after the existing ones.

If variables are added and removed so many times to fill all the available addresses in the map, a message will appear asking to reset and regenerate all the maps with the relevant command (see above).



3.1.7 THE VMU-W MODEM

3.1.7.1 INSTALLING AND CONFIGURING THE VMU-W MODEM

Connecting the VMU-W module

To connect the Modem (VMU-W) to VMU-C you will have to perform the following steps:

- Make sure the VMU-C and the VMU-W are not powered.
- Connect the VMU-W to the VMU-C through the auxiliary bus on the left side of the VMU-C.
- Make sure the SIM is not protected by a PIN code (should that be the case, disable the protection).
- Insert the SIM into the VMU-W modem through the special slot.
- Connect the antenna and put it in a place assuring proper signal reception.
- Restore the power supply of both devices (VMU-C and VMU-W).
- Make sure that both devices are located in a dry place, protected against rain and dust.

On the front side of VMU-W there are two LEDs, whose meaning is the following:

- 1) Green LED: <u>Steadily on</u> => the equipment is powered.
- Blue LED: <u>Off</u> => no power supply. <u>Fast blinking</u> => searching for the cover signal / not registered / switching off. <u>Slow blinking</u> => Service is registered and signal is available. <u>Steadily on</u> => communication under way.



VMU-W modem



By clicking on "MODEM" it is possible to access the configuration of the parameters which allow VMU-W based communication. It is needed to complete all the fields from the following form:

MODEM CONNECTION STATUS						
	Signal				Model	
	Network Registration			Data Con	nection	
	8	I	P address			
		MODEM CONF	IGURATION			
	Modem Enabling	Internet C	connection Enabling			SMS Enabling
	MODEM SE	TTING FOR I	NTERNET CONN	ECTION		
		Provider	¥			
		SMS Con	nmands			
		Password:	••••		09]	
	Co	onfirm Password:	••••		09]	
		MODEM W	ATCHDOG			
	Enable Ping Reboot		Website/IP Addre	ess:		
	Enable Scheduled Reboot		Int	tervall Time	(Hours):	01 🔻
		Save S	etting			

Modem configuration

The web page includes 5 areas:

- a) MODEM CONNECTION STATUS
 - Signal = Modem's signal level (RX)
 - Model = full Modem's part number
 - Network registration = Mobile network to which the modem is connected
 - Data connection = connection status
 - IP address = IP address assigned to the device by the mobile network
- b) MODEM CONFIGURATION
 - Modem Enabling = to be checked to enable the VMU-W modem
 - Internet Connection Enabling= to be checked to enable data communication over Internet
 - SMS Enabling= to be checked to enable SMS alarm dispatching
- c) MODEM SETTING FOR INTERNET CONNECTION
 - Provider = APN provider for data connection
- d) SMS COMMANDS
 - Password = numeric password to be set to allow user to send SMS commands to the VMU-W (see the relevant section below)
 - Confirm password = field used to confirm the password above
- e) MODEM WATCHDOG
 - See section below



3.1.7.2 MODEM WATCHDOG

	MODEM WATCHDOG		
Enable Ping Reboot Website/IP Address:			
Enable Scheduled Reboot Intervall Time (Hours): 01			
	Save Setting		

Modem Watchdog

It is possible to overcome common issues in mobile communication by means of 3 different mechanisms:

- 1) Ping Reboot: if enabled, VMU-C + VMU-W sends a PING to the defined IP address (to be chosen as a reliable always ON server on Internet). In the case of repeated lost answer from the PING, the system reboots
- 2) Scheduled reboot: the system reboots each interval time (chosen in the relevant parameter field)
- 3) SMS command: see next section

3.1.7.3 SMS COMMANDS

SMS Commands			
Password: •••• [09]			
Confirm Password:		[09]	

SMS COMMANDS SETTINGS

The following command are available by sending SMS to the VMU-W's SIM number:

Command	Syntax	Notes
VMU-C Reboot	REBOOT PASSWORD	Password defined by the
		user in the relevant
	(e.g. REBOOT 1234)	section in the page
		above; the system
		sends an acknowledge
		to the calling phone
		(REBOOT OK)
Data communication	DATA MODEM ON PASSWORD	Password defined by the
ON		user in the relevant
	(e.g. DATA MODEM ON 1234)	section in the page
		above; the system
		sends an acknowledge
		to the calling phone
		(DATA MODEM ON OK)
Data communication	DATA MODEM OFF PASSWORD	Password defined by the
OFF		user in the relevant
	(e.g. DATA MODEM OFF 1234)	section in the page
		above; the system
		sends an acknowledge



		to the calling phone (DATA MODEM OFF OK)
Public IP inquiry	IP PASSWORD (e.g. IP 1234)	Password defined by the user in the relevant section in the page above; the system sends the IP address by SMS to the calling phone



3.1.8 ALARM SENDING CONFIGURATION

Clicking on "ALARMS" will grant access to the page shown below.

	Configuring Alarming - Group 1		
Recipients Addresses	$a {\tt less} and {\tt ro.fardin@gavazziacbu.it; ermes.cellot@gavazziacbu.it; marco.meneghel@gavazziacbu.it; marco.meneghel@gavazziacbu.it; ermes.cellot@gavazziacbu.it; marco.meneghel@gavazziacbu.it; ermes.cellot@gavazziacbu.it; marco.meneghel@gavazziacbu.it; ermes.cellot@gavazziacbu.it; marco.meneghel@gavazziacbu.it; marco.meneghel@gavaziacbu.it; marco.meneghel@gavaziacb$		
Object	VMU-C 115 Alarm Group1		
Send Mail Test Ma			
ACUON	Send SMS Phone Number Test SMS		
Send for:	Alarms Anomalies Sevents Commands		
Configuring Alarming - Group 2			
Recipients Addresses alessandro.fardin@gavazziacbu.it			
Object	VMU-C 115 Alarm Group2		
A =4i = 1	Send Mail Test Mail		
Action	Send SMS Phone Number Test SMS		
Send for:	Alarms Anomalies Events Commands		
Save Setting			

Outgoing mail configuration

VMU-C can send alert emails and/or SMS to more recipients at the same time and according to predefined rules. This page contains two separate configuration screens, in order to create two separate users groups to send communications to. In "Send for" selection field, alarm messages can be filtered to be sent to the relevant receivers.

Fill in the fields in both screens according to the following specifications:

Field	Description		
Recipients addresses	Email addresses of the alarm messages' recipients		
	Note: Addresses must be separated by semicolon (;) with no space.		
Object	Email's Subject		
Action	 Send Mail: to send the alerts by email Send SMS: to send the alerts by SMS (to the phone number on the right) 		
Phone number	Recipient's phone number including international prefix code		
Send for:	It is possible to choose which category of alerts must be delivered to recipients among Alarms, anomalies, events, commands (more information on the alarms section). • "Alarms": High-priority alerts.		
	• "Warning": Low-Medium priority alerts.		
	 "Events": Opening/Closing of digital inputs and outputs 		



	"Commands": Change of parameters on Eos- Array
--	---



3.1.9 PLANNING CONFIGURATION

Clicking on "PLANNING" will grant access to the page shown in below-SCHEDULING SENDING DATA VIA MAIL

Recipients Addresses	alessandro.fardin@ga	$a {\sf less} and {\sf ro.fardin} @ {\sf gavazziacbu.it}; {\sf ermes.cellot} @ {\sf gavazziacbu.it}; {\sf marco.meneghel} @ {\sf gavazziacbu.it}; {\sf rot.fardin} @ {\sf fardin} @ {\sf gavazziacbu.it}; {\sf rot.fardin} @ {\sf fardin} @ {\sf far$		
Action	Send Mail	Test Mail		
Send Plant Data	Daily	Weekly		
	Monthly	Yearly		
		Save Setting		

Email scheduler

• <u>Scheduling sending data via Mail</u>

VMU-C allows scheduling an e-mail sending with a .xls file attached, containing the system production data for the period selected in "Send Plant Data". The e-mail can be sent to more receivers at the same time.

Note: to be able to send any e-mail, the outgoing mail server must be appropriately configured in the system.

Fill in the fields in both screens according to the following specifications:

"*Recipients addresses*": E-mail addresses of receivers the production data are sent to.

Note: Addresses must be separated by semicolon (;) with no space.

"Action": Enable/disable schedule:

• "Send Mail": Check to enable e-mail sending.

Note: to be able to send any e-mail, the outgoing mail server must be appropriately configured in the system. (See the previous paragraph)

 "Test Mail": Press this key to receive a test e-mail at the email addresses specified in "Recipients addresses" field.

Note: if the e-mail is not received, check outgoing mail server settings, recipient address, VMU-C EM reachability from Internet.

"Send Plant Data": Check email sending period.

 "Daily": every day at 11:59 p.m., a .xls file is sent with daily consumption data. The file will have the following structure for AC and DC data respectively:





		AC		
Date 2014-01-72	Total Energy(read from energy meters) (kWb)	Average Power on period(read from energy meters) (kW)	Total Relictive Energy(read from energy meters) (kvarh)	Average Reactive Power on period(read from energy meters) (Avar)
00:00	52499,48	10,19	14724,7	-2,57
00:05	52500,25	9,57	14724,99	-1,79
00:10	52501,05	9,65	14725,26	-2,25
00:15	52501,85	10,04	14725,45	+3,06
00:20	52502,66	10,03	14725,64	-3,18
00:25	52503,47	9,74	14725,87	-2,64
	11	DC		
Date 2014-01-22	Total Energy(read from energy meters) (kWh)	Average Power on period(read from energy meters) (kW)	Average Voltage on period (road from energy meters) (V)	Average Current on period (read from energy meters) (A)

		0,1
"Daily"	file	format

0,00

0,00

0,00

0,00

• "*Weekly*": an .xls file containing the consumption data of each day of the week that just ended is sent at 11:59 p.m. of each Sunday. The file will have the following structure for the AC data and similar for the DC data:

0,00

0,00

0,00

48,12

48,11

47,98

48,06

0,00

0,00

0,00

3,12

NG					
Date 1914-02-03	Total Energy(read from energy meters) (KWh)	Average Power on period(real from energy moters) (kW)	Total Seactive Energy(read from energy meters) (kvarli)	Average Reactive Power on period(sead from energy metera) (kyav)	
00-00	63114,69	10,79	16708,93	-2,12	
00:05	63115,55	10,41	16709,23	-1,43	
00.30	63116,42	10,49	16709,52	-1,54	
00:15	63117,3	10,69	16709,76	-2,11	
40:20	63118,2	10,8	16710,01	-2,08	
00.25	63119,09	10,79	16710,29	-1,78	
05.30	63119,97	10,6	16710,63	-0,96	
00.15	63120,86	10,76	16710.9	-1,92	
(0::41)	63121,77	10,96	16711,14	-3,49	
00:45	63122,77	11,98	16711,34	-2,59	
0850	63123,7	11,31	16711,53	-2,54	
INC. T.L.	£1154 A5	2.05	16711 76	00	

[&]quot;Weekly" file format

 "Monthly": on the last day of the month at 11:59 p.m., a .xls file is sent with detailed consumption data (daily definition) for every day of the month. The file will have the following structure for the AC data and similar for the DC data:

AC				
Oate	Total Energy(read from energy meters) (kWh)	Average Power on period(read from energy meters) (kW)	Total Reactive Energy(read from energy meters) (isvarh)	Average Reactive Power on period(read from energy motors) (kvar)
01-01-2014	10381	1,24	870,7	-0,74
02-01-2014	10424,1	1,8	873,3	-0,64
03-01-2014	10453,9	1,24	873,6	-0,73
04-01-2014	10483,7	1,24	874	-0,74
05-01-2014	10513,5	1,24	874,3	-0,74
06-01-2014	10543,4	1,24	874,7	-0,73
07-01-2014	10720,3	7,36	888	-1,7
06-01-2014	10906,2	7,75	902,4	-1,19
001-2014	11087,7	7,57	916,9	-1,75
10-01-2014	11271,7	7,66	930,6	-1,74
11-01-2014	11303,5	1,32	931	-0,85

"Monthly" file format



• "*Yearly*": on December 31st at 11:59 p.m., a .xls file is sent with the consumption data (individual month definition) for every day of the year. The file will have the following structure for the AC data and similar for the DC data:

and the second s	Energy on period (read from	Instantaneous Power (read	Energy on period (read from	Instantaneous Power (read
Oate	onergy meters) (kWh)	from energy meters) (kW)	energy meters) (kvarh)	from energy meters) (kvar)
gen-12	654,0	27,2	456,0	-13,8
teb-12	406,ā	17,0	225,6	-8,2
mar-12	1743,6	72,7	838,8	-22,6
apr-12	1790,4	74,2	824,4	-21,5
mag-12	1810,8	75,5	830,4	-20,2
geu-22	1956,0	81,1	866,4	-19,8
tug-12	1616,4	67,3	700,8	-15,6

"Yearly" file format


3.1.10 E-MAIL (OUTGOING MAIL SERVER) CONFIGURATION

Clicking on the "E-MAIL" item will grant access to the page shown below

CONFIGURING OUTGOING MAIL SERVER		
Sender Address	vmuc.ponte@gmail.com	
Sender Name	VMU-C-PONTE	
Server SMTP	smtp.gmail.com	
Username Server SMTP	vmuc.ponte	
Password Server SMTP		
Save Setting		



The outgoing mail server configuration is necessary to send alarm or history data e-mails from the plant. If configuration is incomplete or incorrect, VMU-C EM cannot send any communications by e-mail.

Fill in the fields according to the following specifications:

- "Sender address": e-mail address associated with VMU-C EM. If the address is invalid, the e-mails sent by VMU-C EM might be considered as SPAM.
- "Sender name": sender name. (From)
- "Server SMTP": Address of SMTP server for outgoing mail.
- "Username Server SMTP": username for access authentication to SMTP server.
- "Password Server SMTP": password for access authentication to SMTP server.

Press "Save setting" key to store settings.

Note: to ensure proper operation of email message sending, refer to "Alarm configuration" paragraph.

Note: should you use a mail server not requiring the configuration of the "UserName" and "Password" fields, when configuring VMU-C the two fields in question shall not be filled in.



3.1.11 UPDATING THE VMU-C FIRMWARE

Clicking on the "FIRMWARE" item will grant access to the page shown below.



Firmware update

This page is split in 2 areas relevant to 2 ways of updating the VMU-C:

- a) Manual update
- b) Automatic update

3.1.11.1 **MANUAL UPDATE**

Manual update allows to upgrade the current firmware release by uploading and installing a new firmware package file (provided by Carlo Gavazzi organization) by means of a PC. Pressing the "Browse" button will open a window allowing to specify where the firmware update file has been saved; as soon as you select the file, VMU-C will display the above window again, replacing the "Browse" caption with "OK" (the update file must be obtained from the Carlo Gavazzi technical support. Pressing the "Load" button will open a window prompting user to confirm the firmware update operation. As soon as the update operation is confirmed, the system will prompt you to confirm the operation under way.

La pagina all'indi	rizzo 192.168.2.71 dice:
This procedure will sure you w <mark>ant to c</mark> o	l update automatically VMU-C. Are you ontinue?

FIRMWARE update confirmation

As soon as user gives OK to proceed with the firmware update operation the system will display the screen shown below:







Firmware update splash screen

Time to finalize installation depends on the actual VMU-C load (in tems of connected devices), Internet connection speed and size and complexity of the update package.

Note: the time necessary to the system for loading the update depends on the speed of the Internet/LAN connection between the PC and VMU-C and could last for several minutes, particularly in connection with cellular modem. Wait for the report to confirm the successful download.

Notes: updating operation cannot be interrupted after launching the Update command. Do not launch a new update before the system has completed the first one.

Notes: Major updates introducing brand new important features need time to be finalized.

3.1.11.2 **AUTOMATIC UPDATE**

The automatic update is managed by the following subsection of the main Firmware Update page:

Check FTP Server for Latest Update	Check
Download Update Package	Download
Install Update Package	Install

Automatic update

The process is menu – driven, and it is thus error-proof; the three steps are:

Button	Action
Check	Checks if a new updating package is ready on Carlo Gavazzi's servers



Download	Enabled if CHECK is successful; it starts
	the package download from Carlo
	Gavazzi's servers; at the end of the
	download step it is possible both to start
	installation and also to check again (the
	latter chance is useful in the case the
	download has not been followed by Install
	and time has passed by
Install	Enabled if DOWNLOAD is successfully
	finalized; it starts the package installation

Note: the time necessary to the system for loading the update depends on the speed of the Internet/LAN connection between the PC and VMU-C and could last for several minutes, particularly in connection with cellular modem. Wait for the report to confirm the successful download.

Notes: Major updates introducing brand new important features need time to be finalized.

3.1.11.3 **FIRMWARE UPDATE – SERVER SETTINGS**

After having been officially authorized by Carlo Gavazzi, an user could setup a firmware update server in its own IT infrastructure. This is useful in the case of complex organizations needing to apply special firmware deployment policies.

In this case it is possible to configure an alternate server, under the user responsibility, to be accessed as the VMU-C firmware repository.

FIRMWARE UPDATE - SERVER SETTINGS		
Carlo Gavazzi Official FTP Server	۲	
Custom FTP Server	0	
FTP Server Address		
Remote Directory	/	
Server User		
Server Password		
Save Setting		
Test Connection		

Firmware Update –custom FTP server

By the relevant fields it is possible to configure the client so as to communicate with the FTP server :

- FTP server address: IP or Internet address of the target FTP server
- Remote directory: directory where the firmware packages are stored within the FTP server
- Server user: user name to access the above directory
- Server password: password to access the above directory

Note: setting up a custom FTP repository needs special training on the relevant procedures to allow firmware package deployment. Please contact Carlo Gavazzi Support for further information.



Note: setting up a custom FTP repository needs special training on the relevant procedures to allow firmware package deployment. Please contact Carlo Gavazzi Support for further information.



3.1.12 TOOLS

REMOTE REBOOT		
VMU-C Reboot	Reboot	
SETTING VMUC-EM'S DATE AND TIME - VMU-M EM'S SYNCHRONIZATION		
VMU-C's Date 27-06-2014	VMU-C's Time 14 44 20 hh:mm:ss	
Synchronize with PC's time	Adjust	
SYSTEM DATA RESET		
Password	Confirm Password	
Yield Data Reset	Reset	
Events Reset	Reset	
VMU-M EM, Environmental Sensors and Energy Meters Reset	Reset	
Reset of Yield Data and Plant Settings	Reset	
Restore Factory Settings	Reset	

The TOOLS menu

By the tools menu it is possible to:

- a) Reboot VMU-C
- b) Setting up Time and Date
- c) Resetting VMU-C

3.1.12.1 **VMU-C REBOOT**

VMU-C can be restarted through the "REBOOT" button.

REI	MOTE REBOOT	
	VMU-C Reboot	Reboot

After issuing the command you will be prompted to confirm that you wish to proceed,

😨 La pagina all'indir	izzo 192.168.2.71 dice:	×
VMU-C will be resta	arted. Are you sure you v	vant to continue?
	ОК	Annulla

then a countdown will displayed. When it is completed, you will be addressed back to the home page .



SYSTEM PLANT	SENSORS
In 23 seconds you will be redirected	to VMU-C's Homepage

Note: during update and restart, web pages can show error messages as VMU-C cannot be temporarily reached. Wait for a few seconds before restoring connection.

vvaluor a tew seconds before restoring connection.

3.1.12.2 DATE, TIME AND VMU-M CONFIGURATION

By pressing the "*Set*" button you can set the VMU-C internal date and time on all the VMU-M devices connected to VMU-C. If you select the "Synchronise with …" function the date and time sent to the VMU-C and as a consequence to the VMU-M devices connected to it will be those of the PC in use .

SETTING VMUC-EM'S DATE AND TIME - VMU-M EM'S SYNCHRONIZATION		
VMU-C's Date 27-06-2014	VMU-C's Time 14 45 44 hh:mm:ss	
Synchronize with PC's time	Adjust	
SYSTEM DATA RESET		

3.1.12.3 **RESETTING SYSTEM DATA**

VMU-C provides 5 different Reset commands :

Confirm Password
Reset

- 1) Yield data reset: it will reset all the production data stored in the internal memory of VMU-C and in the VMU-M devices connected to it (if a memory card has been installed in VMU-C, it is not affected by the Reset command).
- Events reset: it will reset all the events stored in VMU-C and in the VMU-M devices connected to it (if a memory card has been installed in VMU-C, it is not affected by the Reset command).
- 3) Eos-Array, environmental sensor and meter reset: it will reset all the environmental sensor data recorded in VMU-C and in the VMU-M devices connected to it (temperatures, radiance and wind speed), as well as the values of the plant kWh meters (if a memory card has been installed in VMU-C, it is not affected by the Reset command).
- 4) Yield data and plant settings reset: It combines the three Reset commands described above; it also resets the plant configuration (it doesn't reset the data concerning the IP address, the SMTP mail server data and all the previously input e-mail addresses).



5) Restore Factory Settings: it performs the reset operations described at point 4; it also resets all the settings like IP address, SMTP server and alarm management by e-mail (if a memory card has been installed in VMU-C, it is not affected by the Reset command). Default data (factory settings) will be restored.

Note: to be able to execute any of the reset commands described above , you first need to enter the Administrator "Password".



3.1.13 LANGUAGE SETTING

Hovering the mouse cursor over "SYSTEM" will display a drop-down menu; click on "LANGUAGE"; the relevant section will be displayed. From the drop-down menu select the desired language. The system will also display the date and time formats currently in use. "Decimal Separator" box allows the choice between "." and "," as decimal separator in all the file which will be exported by VMU-C.

	LANGUAGE
Language Selecion English UK	
E	ENGINEERING UNITS
Date Format	Day - Month - Year
Time Format	Hours : Minutes : Seconds AM/PM
Data Export: Decimal Separator	· · · · · ·
	TIME ZONE
Area	Location
Europe 🔻	Rome v
	Apply
	·

Language setting

You will also have to provide the following information:

- Geographic area
 - City

_

This information is required for time management inside VMU-C EM.



3.2 PLANT CONFIGURATION

Hovering the mouse over "PLANT" will display a drop-down menu consisting of three items: "COM SETUP", "DRIVER" and "SETTING"

COM SETUP	
DRIVER	÷
SETTING	•

Plant Configuration Menu

3.2.1 COM SETUP

Hovering the mouse over "COM Setup" will grant access to the page shown below, relevant to COM1 port according to the relevant RS485 parameters.

The configuration of the "COM 2" port must be carried out during the configuration of the energy meters / inverters connected to VMU-C.

COM PORT SETUP									
COM1 (EOS-ARRAY)									
Baud Rate	9600 🔻								
Parity	None								
Data bits	8 •								
Stop bits	1								
	Save Setting								
	COM port Setup								

Note: The communication port RS485 (COM 1) is specifically designed for the communication with the VMU-M belonging to the system and controlled by VMU-C.

Define the following parameters in this page:

- Baud-rate (selectable values are: 9600, 19200, 38400 and 115200 bps)
- **Parity** (selectable values are: none, odd or even)
- Data bits (selectable values are 8 or 7 bits)
- **Stop bits** (selectable values are 1 or 2 bits)

Press "Save setting" to store data.



3.2.2 DRIVERS

Hovering the mouse cursor over "DRIVERS" will display two items: LIST and IMPORT.

• Clicking the LIST item will grant access to the page shown below listing (in alphabetical order) all the drivers of the compatible energy meters in VMU-C EM.

BRAND	DRIVER	VERSION	INSTRUMENT
CARLO GAVAZZI	EM12	1.2	Energy Meter
CARLO GAVAZZI	EM21	2.3	Energy Meter
CARLO GAVAZZI	EM21_R	1.2	Energy Meter
CARLO GAVAZZI	EM23	1.1	Energy Meter
CARLO GAVAZZI	EM24	1.1	Energy Meter
CARLO GAVAZZI	EM26	1.1	Energy Meter
CARLO GAVAZZI	EM33	2.1	Energy Meter
CARLO GAVAZZI	VMU-E_DIRECT	1.1	Energy Meter
CARLO GAVAZZI	VMU-E_SENSOR	1.1	Energy Meter
CARLO GAVAZZI	VMU-E_SHUNT	1.1	Energy Meter
CARLO GAVAZZI	WM30	2.2	Energy Meter
CARLO GAVAZZI	WM40	2.3	Energy Meter

AVAILABLE DRIVER LIST

Driver list

DRIVER IMPORT PROCEDURE							
Select the file using the 'Browse' button	Browse						
Press the 'Load Driver' key to load the selected driver	Load Driver						
Confirm New Driver Activation	Activate						

Driver Import

Clicking on the "IMPORT" item will grant access to the page shown above, allowing to import any new drivers made available by "Carlo Gavazzi Controls" .. Once the new driver(s) loading procedure is completed, press the "Activate" button to actually enable the driver.

Note: due to the complexity of the implemented functions, some driver require that some low-level firmware functions are enabled at the same time. In this case you may have to update the whole VMU-C firmware.



3.2.3 PLANT SETTING

When hovering the mouse over "Setting", the system will display the two items WIZARD and SAVE CONFIGURATION .



If the VMU-C configuration has already been completed, clicking on the SAVE CONFIGURATION item will allow to export it to a file with "DB" extension and to save it to one's PC, allowing it to be uploaded to the present or different VMU-C at a later time.

Clicking on the WIZARD item will grant access to the page shown below, displaying four new sub-menus:

- Detect Connected Instruments
- Manual configuration
- Restore Configuration
- Import

VMU-C SETTINGS							
Autoscan Devices Connected to VMU-C	Find Connected Devices						
Perform the manual configuration of the devices connected to the VMU-C	Manual Setup						
Resume Configuration	Resume Configuration						
Load Configuration from File	Import						

Plant Configuration Wizard

Clicking on the "*Find Connected Devices*" item will grant access to the page shown in above; through the "Start Scanning" command, it allows to launch the procedure of "self-detection" of the modules connected to the auxiliary bus of VMU-C and of the devices connected to the COM1 communication port (VMU-M and relevant modules).

Note: before starting the configuration procedure described below, the relevant Mod-BUS address (Mod-BUS node number) must have been assigned for all the VMU-M modules. There must not be two devices having the same node number on the same communication bus.

Note: the scanning operation can only detect the devices which are properly connected and powered. The self-detection operation only refers to the COM1 communication bus. Any devices existing on COM2 shall be configured manually.

Autoscan Devices Connected to VMU-C									
	VMU-C COM 1								
Modbus Address									
Found Devices									
Scan Status									
	Start Scan								

VMU-C setting



Once the procedure for the automatic detection of the connected devices is completed, the system will display the page shown below listing the amount of the devices detected for the COM1 port and for the COM Aux port of the VMU-C EM. If all the devices connected to the ports (COM1 e COM Aux) have been detected, you can stop the automatic scanning procedure through the "*Stop scanning*" command.

AUTOSCAN DEVICES CONNECTED TO VMU-C								
	VMU-C	COM 1						
Modbus Address								
Found Devices								
Scan Status								
	Start Scan							
	VMU-C EM setting							

If the scanning procedure has been successfully completed, save the resulting information by pressing the "Save Configuration" button

Scan Status	Terminate	Terminate
	Save Configuration	
	Cancel	
	VMU-C EM setting	

• Clicking on the "Save Configuration" item will grant access to the page shown below

Clicking on the "*Manual setup*" item will grant access to the manual configuration section shown below . From now on the configuration of the whole system will start.

Note: the user will be able to ADD, MODIFY or REMOVE any VMU-M EM devices even after they have been automatically detected.

					MAN	IUAL S	ETUP					
STAR	Г	VMU-	• >	EM	VMU-P		~~	VMU-M		VMU-C		END
			Back					1	Next			
			VMU-M						Add			
Addres	ss		Descri	ption [De	vices Connecte	ed]						
		VMU-C EM									Modi	fy
•	1	VMU-M_001	[01]					Remov	e		Modi	fy
					Ма	nual s	etup					

Note: The LED on the left in figure 32 can take on 3 different colours, having the following meanings:

- GREEN: configuration OK and serial communication enabled
- YELLOW: configuration OK but serial communication not enabled.

- **RED:** error in configuration data. Communication with the relevant module will be impossible.



- Clicking on the "Modify" button allows to display and modify the structure of the VMU-C EM and of each individual VMU-M EM adding or removing any VMU-x modules.
- You can modify the serial communication address of the specific VMU-M EM module.
- You can assign a specific group description (this way it might be easier to identify the board during monitoring)
- You can also associate a further descriptive note with the specific VMU-M EM module.
- The command "Enable VMU-M EM COM1 communication" allows to enable the communication between the VMU-C EM master and the relevant VMU-M EM. Should communication be disabled, during the scanning procedure the master VMU-C EM will not query the specific VMU-M EM.

		VMU-	C SET	TINGS	i			
	Position	0	1	2	3	4		
	-			w				
		00	000	000				
			000	000	_			
	1		107	CET 1				
	l							
				4 -				
	-		000	000	_	_		
			000	000				
		000000						
		C	0	P	?	?		
Description	VMU-C E	M						
Notes	Local Bu	s						
1000	-						72833	

VMU-C EM setting

Clicking on the "Next" button from the "Manual setup" page will grant access to the configuration of the individual devices, like energy meters, VMU modules and relevant sensors.

3.2.4 CONFIGURATION OF THE VMU-O MODULES (VMU-O EM)

If during the "device auto-detection" stage one or more VMU-O modules have been identified (there may be up to 3 VMU-O modules for each VMU-C EM e/o VMU-M EM), the system will display the screen shown below $\frac{1}{2}$

The procedure for the auto-detection of the modules connected to COM1 scans all the devices existing on this port, stores their position and displays the current configuration.



START VMU-O EM VMU-P	VMU-M VMU-C	END
Back	Next	
Base Module VMU-C VMU-C EM (Addr. 1)	VMU-O Position	1
VMU-O "I2R2"		
Output 1 Output 2		
Output Function 1	Alarm 🔻	
Output Initial Status	Normally Open 🔻	
Activation of Time Period1 (hh:mm)	0 : 0	
Deactivation of Time Period1 (hh:mm)	0 : 0	
Activation of Time Period2 (hh:mm)	0 : 0	
Deactivation of Time Period2 (hh:mm)	0 : 0	

VMU-O module configuration mask

The system will automatically display the information concerning the source base module (VMU-C EM or VMU-M EM) and the location of the VMU-O module within the system.

Indicate for each of the two outputs (Output1 and Output2) the function to be applied (Remote, Alarm, Clock):

Output 1	Output 2	
Output Fur	ction 1	Alarm 🔻
Output Init	ial Status	Remote
Activation	of Time Period 1 (hh:mm)	Timer Global Alarm
Deactivatio	on of Time Period 1 (hh:mm)	0 : 0
Activation	of Time Period 2 (hh:mm)	0 : 0
Deactivatio	on of Time Period 2 (hh:mm)	0 : 0

VMU-O usage modes

- *Remote*: Activation and deactivation are performed through a special command sent by the operator through VMU-C.
- Alarm: The output is associated with an alarm condition coming from <u>local VMU</u> modules connected by local bus to the target VMU_O (i.e. temperature setpoint on the VMU-P): in this case the alarm management is made locally by the VMU-M master This selection also allows to define the initial state of the relay (Normally closed or Normally open).
- Clock: Activation and deactivation are carried out at the time set in VMU-C.
- Global: The output is associated with an alarm condition coming from VMU-C (i.e. an Energy meter voltage setpoint): in this case the alarm management is made remotely by the VMU-C. This selection also allows to define the initial state of the relay (Normally closed or Normally open).

Clicking on the "Next" button from the "Manual setup" page (Fig. 32) will grant access to the EM (Energy Meter) configuration page $\frac{1}{2}$





3.2.5 ENERGY METER CONFIGURATION

Clicking on the "Next" button again from the "Manual setup" page will grant access to the Energy Meter configuration page

START	<u>> vmu-o</u> > ем	VMU-P	VMU-M VMU	-C END
	Back		Next	
	EM		Add	
Address	Description	Model		
1	WM30_1	WM30	Remove	Modify
2	EM21_2	EM21	Remove	Modify
10	VMU-E_10	VMU-E_DIRECT	Remove	Modify
11	VMU-E_11	VMU-E_DIRECT	Remove	Modify

Energy meter configuration

3.2.5.1 ENERGY METER ADDITION

Clicking on the "Add" button will display the mask allowing to select the configuration model $\frac{1}{2}$

				MANU	JAL S	SETUP				
START	> VMU	•• >	EM	VMU-P			VMU-M	VMU-C		END
		Back	12				N	ext		
	[EM					A	dd		
Address	(a.	Descripti	on		Mo	del	_			-
		Hew_Institu	manik.			-	Remov	e	Modify	

Energy meter addition

Click on the "Modify" button to access the detailed Energy Meter configuration . ENERGY METER CONFIGURATION

Brand	τ
Model	
Address	•
Description	New_Instrument
Energy Meter COM 2 Communication Enabling	
Define as Main Meter	
Enable Contribution to the Virtual Main Meter	○ Yes ● No
	Configure Set Points
1	Counters Configuration
Notes	
Baud Rate	9600 🔻
Data bits	8 🔻
Parity	None 🔻
Stop bits	1 🔹
Back	Save

Energy meter configuration



Through the drop-down menu of the "Brand" field select the name of the Energy Meter manufacturer

Energy Meter Configuration					
Brand	CARLO GAVAZZI	•			

Select the specific model of the energy meter you are configuring through the drop-down menu of the "Model" field

Brand	CARLO GAVAZZI
Model	VMU-E_SHUNT
Address	FM12
Description	EM21
Energy Meter COM 2 Communication Enabling	EM21_R EM23
Define as Main Meter	EM24 EM26
Enable Contribution to the Virtual Main Meter	VMU-E_DIRECT VMU-E_SENSOR
	VMU-E_SHUNT
Notes	WM40
Baud Rate	9600 🔻
Data bits	8 🔻
Parity	None 🔻
Stop bits Back	1 V Save

Compatible EM models list

Complete the Energy Meter configuration by configuring the following fields:

a) Address (Modbus): specify the address configured on the Energy Meter.

Note: within the same RS-485 network there may be no two energy meters (or other devices) having the same address. The presence of two or more instruments having the same address prevents communication with them.

b) Description: label to be assigned to the Energy Meter. We recommend that you name instruments in progressive order to easily identify them during data or alarm search.

Note: we recommend that you assign a different "Description" to the instruments.

- c) Energy meter COM 2 communication enabling: it enables the serial communication of the instrument with VMU-C EM
- d) **Define as main meter**: the instrument being configured will be considered as the reference main instrument (there can be a main meter for AC energy and 1 main meter for DC energy).



- e) Enable contribution to the virtual main meter: if no main instrument has been defined (from the configured instrument list), VMU-C EM will automatically create a virtual instrument (one for AC energy and one for DC energy). It will represent the sum of all the real instrument having this option enabled.
- f) **Notes**: notes field.
- g) **Baud rate** (bps): specify the communication rate (9600, 19200, 38400 or 115200) previously set on the instrument.
- h) Data bits: specify the data format used by the instrument (7 or 8 bits).
- i) **Parity**: specify the communication parity type (no parity, even parity, odd parity); it shall match the values set on the instrument.
- j) **Stop bits**: specify the number of stop bits (1 or 2 bits); it shall match the values set on the instrument.

Pressing the "Save" button will add the energy meter to the list

Note: the "Description" field box can take on 3 different colours, having three different meanings:

- **GREY** : configuration OK and serial communication enabled

- YELLOW: configuration OK but serial communication not enabled.

- **RED**: error in configuration data. Communication with the relevant module will be impossible.

Click on the "Add" button again to add other energy meters.

3.2.5.2 CONFIGURING SET-POINTS

Press the "Configure Set-Points" button to access the alarm configuration page.

ENERGY METER CONFIGURATION								
Brand	CARLO GAVAZZI							
Model	WM30 T							
Address	1 •							
Description	WM30_1							
Energy Meter COM 2 Communication Enabling								
Define as Main Meter	0							
Enable Contribution to the Virtual Main Meter	 Yes No 							
	Configure Set Points							

Button granting access to the alarm configuration page

It grants access to the configuration page allowing to configure up to 8 different alarms for each instrument.



ENERGY METER CONFIGURATION									
						General Setting			
nabled variables		Set-Point 1	Set-Point 2	On-Time Delay (s)	Alarm Type				
VLNsys	۲	220.0	210.0	5	Virtual	T			
VLNsys	٠	220.0	210.0	0	Virtual	•			
	۲	0.0	0.1	0	Disabled	•			
	۲	0.0	0.1	0	Disabled	•			
	۲	0.0	0.1	0	Disabled	•			
	۲	0.0	0.1	0	Disabled	•			
	۲	0.0	0.1	0	Disabled	•			
	۲	0.0	0.1	0	Disabled	T			
	_								
		Back			Save				

alarm configuration page

The following fields need to be configured for each alarm:

• Enabled variables: from the drop-down menu you can choose a variable among the ones included in the list displayed by the system:

Enabled variables					
VLNsys	۲				
Hz	*				
PF L1					
PF L2					
PF L3					
PF sys					
Phase sequence					
THDA1					
THDA2					
THDA3					
THDV1N					
THDV2N					
THDV3N					
VL12					
VLIN					
VL23					
VL2N					
VL31					
VESIV					
VLLSyS	Ŧ				
VLINSYS					

Enabled variables

In case of DC energy meter, the available variable list is limited to current, voltage, power and DC energy.

• Set-Point1: it indicates the alarm activation value (MAXIMUM alarm with Set-Point1 ≥ Set-Point2; MINIMUM alarm with Set-Point1 < Set-Point2)



- Set-Point2: specify the alarm activation value. (MAXIMUM alarm with Set-Point1 ≥ Set-Point2; MINIMUM alarm with Set-Point1 < Set-Point2)
- **On-time delay (s)**: specify the delay in seconds associated with the alarm activation (waiting time during which the variable stays above or below the Set-Point1 value before the alarm condition is signalled).
- Alarm type: specify the type of alarm you wish to manage. Up to three options may be available: Disable, Virtual or Real.
 - a) **Disabled**: though configured, the overstepping of the set threshold will not generate any message or alarm action.
 - **b)** Virtual: the overstepping of the set threshold will generate an alarm message which will not result in the activation of any digital outputs.
 - c) Position: this option will only be available when there is at least a VMU-O module connected to the internal bus of the VMU-C EM and at least one of the two available outputs is set for remote control. When the alarm threshold is overstepped, the alarm message will be sent, and in addition the status of the selected digital output will change.

3.2.6 COUNTERS CONFIGURATION

Press the "Counters configuration" button to access the page allowing to configure the digital input meters (of any) of the energy meters.

ENERGY METER CONFIGURATION							
	Brand	T					
П	Model	T					
er	Address	•					
N	Description	New_Instrument					
er	Energy Meter COM 2 Communication Enabling						
ır	Define as Main Meter						
y h	Enable Contribution to the Virtual Main Meter	○ Yes ● No					
y		Configure Set Points					
h		Counters Configuration					

Button granting access to the meter configuration page

You will access the configuration page allowing to set for each digital input a description, the engineering unit, the amount of digits after the decimal point and the relevant enabling.

Description	Engineering Units	Decimal Position	Enabled
GAS	m3	<i>#####</i>	Enabled
Cold water	L	###.#	Enabled
Hot water	m3	##.##	Enabled

Digital input meter configuration page



- **Description:** label to be assigned to the Meter (like GAS Meter, WATER Meter, etc.) for easier searching.
- Engineering units: the engineering unit referring to the digital input meters.
- **Decimal position:** number of digits after the point. The point position is defined by the instrument.
- **Enabled:** it specifies whether the meter is enabled or disabled. If it is not enabled, the value and the label will not be displayed.

Press the "Save" button to confirm the newly entered settings.



3.2.7 ENERGY METER DELETION

Press the "Remove" button to delete an instrument from the list of the configured energy meters.

						MANU	IAL SETUP				
START	>	VMU-O	>	EM	\rightarrow	VMU-P	1-5-	VMU-M	VMU-C		END
			Back					N	ext		
			EM	12				A	dd		
Address		D	escriptio	on			Model				
1			WM30_1	l			WM30	Remov	e	Modify	R. I

Energy Meter insertion/removal mask

The system will display a message prompting to confirm the operation -

Press 'YES' to confirm deletion or "NO" to cancel. If you press "YES" the Energy Meter will be removed from the Inserted Meter list. All data acquired from VMU-C EM up to that moment on the deleted Energy Meter will be definitively eliminated.

Note: energy meter insertions, modifications and deletions will come into effect only after the new plant configuration is sent through the specific command. The machine doesn't need to be restarted.



3.3 VMU-P MODULE CONFIGURATION

if one or more VMU-P modules are identified during the "auto-detection" procedure, the system will display the screen shown below (for each VMU- M EM there may be no more than 1 VMU-P module; VMU-C EM can manage up to 11 VMU-P modules).

The procedure for the auto-detection of the VMU-M EM scans all the devices existing on the COM1 port, stores their position and displays the current configuration.

START > VMU-0 >	EM <u> </u>	$\rangle \neg \sim$	VMU-M	VMU-C	END		
Back			Ne	xt			
Base Module VMU-C	/MU-C EM (Addr. 1)		VUM-P Modul	le Position	2		
	VMU-	·P (MV)					
Temperature Measure Tem	mperature ch.1 and ch.1 🔻	Probe Type		Pt100 3-Wire	T		
Analogue Input Measure Ena	abled 🔻	Pulse Rate Input	Measure	Disabled	T		
Temperature ch.1 Temperature	re ch.2 Analogue Input	Pulse Rate Input	Error Manage	ement			
Alarm Type			Position 1, VM	U-O: Channe 🔻			
Alarm Set-point 1 (°C) (S1 >= S2 Up Alarm; S1 < S2 Down Alarm) -2.0							
Alarm Set-point 2 (°C) (S1 >= S2 Up Alarm; S1 < S2 Down Alarm) -4.0							
Alarm Activation Delay Filter			0				

VMU-P module configuration mask

In the area marked by the dots the system will automatically display the information concerning the source base module (VMU-C EM or VMU-M EM) and the location of the VMU-P module within the system.

Specify for each module which temperature measurements shall be monitored (Temperature of channel1, of channel 2 or both) and the type of sensor to be used (Pt100 or Pt1000 probes, 3 wires or 2 wires).

For each module you can also enable (or disable) the measurements from the analogue inputs and from the frequency input (pulse input).



3.3.1 ALARM CONFIGURATION ON VMU-P MODULES

Each VMU-P module can manage specific alarms for each of the monitored dimensions ÷

- Channel 1 temperature
- Channel 2 temperature
- Analogue input (mV or mA)
- Pulse rate input

Temperature ch.2 Temperature ch.1 Analogue Input Pulse Rate Input	Error Management									
Alarm Type Virtual										
Alarm Set-point 1 (°C) (S1 >= S2 Up Alarm; S1 < S2 Down Alarm)	150.0									
Alarm Set-point 2 (°C) (S1 >= S2 Up Alarm; S1 < S2 Down Alarm)	120.0									
Alarm Activation Delay Filter (seconds) (On-Time Delay)	10									

VMU-P alarm configuration mask

For each alarm you can define the activation thresholds and the relevant usage mode:

- Rising alarm: Threshold1 \geq Threshold2
- Dropping alarm: Threshold1 < Threshold2

Each alarm can be disabled, or be enabled as a Virtual Alarm, or you can link each individual alarm to a digital output

Temperature ch.2	Temperature ch.1	Analogue Input	Pulse Rate Input	Error Management	
Alarm Type				Virtual	
Alarm Set-point 1 ('C) (S1 >= S2 Up Ala	rm; S1 < S2 Down /	Alarm)	Disabled Virtual	
Alarm Set-point 2 (C) (S1 >= S2 Up Ala	rm; 51 < 52 Down /	1 <i>Jarm</i>)	Position 2, VMU-O: 0	hannel 2
Alarm Activation D	elay Filter (seconds)	(On-Time Delay)		10	

VMU-P alarm configuration mask

Each alarm can be associated with a different "Alarm activation delay filter" value (a value expressed in seconds, which can range between 0 and 3600).

To configure the alarm triggered by the "analogue input" and by the frequency input (pulse input), besides the alarm thresholds Threshold1 and Threshold2 you also need to set the data specific to the installed sensor:

- Electric scale Minimum Value (mV): parameter related to the electrical input (minimum value of the input signal).
- Electric scale Maximum Value (mV): parameter related to the electrical input (maximum value of the input signal).
- Displayed scale Minimum Value: Minimum value (expressed in the engineering unit specified above) at the minimum input value (mV).
- Displayed scale Maximum value (expressed in the engineering unit specified above) at the maximum input value (mV).



Temperature ch.1	Temperature ch.2	Analogue Input	Pulse Rate Input	Error Management	
Electrical Scale - Min	n. Value (mV)	0.0	Electrical Scale -	Max. Value (mV)	120.0
Display Scale - Min.	Value	0	Display Scale - Ma	ax. Value	7525
Engineering Units				kFa/s	
Decimal Position				###.#	T
Alarm Type				Disabled	T
Alarm Set-point 1	(S1 >= S2 Up Alarm; S	1 < S2 Down Alarm)		0	
Alarm Set-point 2	(S1 >= S2 Up Alarm; S	1 < S2 Down Alarm)		0	
Alarm Activation De	0				

Analogue input alarm configuration mask

- Maximum value of measuring electric scale (Hz): conversion parameter used to obtain the measurements from the frequency input (pulse input). This value represents the maximum frequency value the sensor can generate.
- Maximum value of displayed scale (expressed in the engineering unit specified above): Scaled value corresponding to the maximum value of the frequency signal.

Temperature ch.1	Temperature ch.2	Analogue Input	Pulse Rate Input	Error Management	
Maximun Value of M	leasuring Electric Sca	300.0			
Maximun Value of D	isplay Scale		30.0		
Engineering Units					
Decimal Position				####	T
Alarm Type				Disabled	T
Alarm Set-point 1	(S1 >= S2 Up Alarm; S	1 < S2 Down Alarm)		0.0	
Alarm Set-point 2	(S1 >= S2 Up Alarm; S	0.0			
Alarm Activation De	lay Filter	0			

Pulse rate input (pulse input) alarm configuration mask

You can also set the activation of an alarm in case of errors in the operation of the module itself. Each alarm is associated with one or more error conditions on the module. You can associate the managed errors with an output to be activated. The list allowing to select the Output associated with the alarm shall include the output of the VMU-O modules existing in the group with the Alarm setting.

Temperature ch.1	Temperature ch.2	Analogue Input	Pulse Rate Input	Error Management				
Error description: Error in the programmed parameters								
Error description: S circuit on probe char	nel 1; Short No A	larm 🔻						

Configuration mask for error management in case of error



3.4 VMU-O MODULE OUTPUT MANUAL COMMAND CONFIGURATION

Pressing the "NEXT" button again will grant access to the screen allowing to configure the manual commands of the relay outputs on the VMU-O modules .

Through this function, by using a manual command, you'll be able to remotely activate or deactivate (via Ethernet/through the Internet) the digital outputs of the VMU-O modules installed on-field.

Note: To be able to use this function, the outputs on the VMU-O modules must be set to REMOTE control.

Note: you can create up to 20 manual commands.												
MANUAL SETUP												
START	VMU-O 💙 EM 🚬	VMU-Р >	<u></u>	VMU-M	VMU-C	END						
	Back			Next								
CONFIGURATION MANUAL COMMANDS FOR VMU-O MODULE												
Commands 1-10	Commands 1-10 Commands 11-20											
COMMAND	DESCRIPTION	l		BASE N	IODULE							
1	Zot				Ŧ							
2	Opk		(VMU-C EM (Pos. 1	Ch 2) 🔻							
3			(•							
4					•							
5					•							
6			(T							
7			(T							
8					T							
9					T							
10			[•							

VMU-O output manual command configuration mask

- In the "**Description**" column you can associate each command with a label identifying the function the command in question will activate (for example "Outdoor lighting switch-on").
- The "**Base module**" column allows to associate the descriptive label (see the above paragraph) with the digital output defined for the purpose. Opening the drop-down menu will display the list of all the outputs previously set to REMOTE command .



3.5 CONFIGURATION OF THE VMU-M EM MODULES

Pressing the "NEXT" button again will grant access to the screen allowing to configure the VMUM-EM modules connected to VMU-C EM.

	VMU-M VMU-C END
Back	Next
Base Module VMU-M VMU-M_001 (Addr. 1)	
VMU-M	
Inputs Other Alarms Group 1	
Channel Function	None
Temperature Probe	Pt100 3-Wire 🔻
Temperature 1 - Alarm Working Mode	None
Alarm Set-point 1 (°C) (S1 >= S2 Up Alarm; S1 < S2 Down Alarm)	0.0
Alarm Set-point 2 (°C) (S1 >= S2 Up Alarm; S1 < S2 Down Alarm)	0.0
Alarm Activation Delay Filter (Seconds) (On-Time Delay)	0
Temperature 2 - Alarm Working Mode	None
Alarm Set-point 1 (°C) (S1 >= S2 Up Alarm; S1 < S2 Down Alarm)	0.0
Alarm Set-point 2 (°C) (S1 >= S2 Up Alarm; S1 < S2 Down Alarm)	0.0
Alarm Activation Delay Filter (Seconds) (On-Time Delay)	0

VMU-M module configuration mask

- Besides the label defined above, the top section displays the ModBus address for the specific VMU-M EM module.
- The bottom section is used for the configuration of the digital or temperature inputs and for other general alarms. Two sections are described below:
 - A. Inputs:
 - Define the use of the inputs existing on the VMU-M EM module:
 - \Rightarrow NONE: the module inputs will have no use.
 - ⇒ For TEMPERATURE reading (on one or two channels; probe type: Pt100 or Pt1000, 2 or 3 wires).
 - ⇒ DIGITAL: <u>digital input "1"</u> shall be used to read the status (Open/Closed) of a digital contact (for example to detect whether the DC protection has tripped or not).

Note: when inputs are used for temperature reading, define whether you wish to manage the ALARM function for each channel.. In this case to set the values of "Threshold 1" and of "Threshold 2" (for values of "T1" exceeding or equal to those of "T2" you will get a MAXIMUM alarm; for values of "T1" lower than those of "T2" you will get an alarm with MINIMUM operation). You also have to define whether the alarm must be VIRTUAL or REAL (associated with a relay output of VMU-O).

B. Other alarms group:

Set the use of a further alarm managed by VMU-M EM



	VMU M	
Inputs Other Alarms Group 1		
Incoherent Programmed Parameters	No Alarm	
	No Alarm Position 2, VMU-O	Channel 2

Other alarms group configuration mask

Note: should VMU-C EM find that the VMU-M EM programming is inconsistent with the modules connected to it, you may choose whether the error should not be managed or whether an alarm should be activated on a physical output.

Note: repeat the VMU-M EM MODULE CONFIGURATION procedure for each of the VMU-M EM modules connected to the VMU-C EM.



3.6 CONFIGURATION OF THE VMU-C EM MODULE

Pressing the "NEXT" button again will grant access to the screen allowing to fully configure the VMU-C EM module.

						MANU	JAL S	ETUP						
START	\rightarrow	VMU-O	\rightarrow	EM	>	VMU-P	>		>	VMU-M	>	VMU-C	$\mathbf{\Sigma}$	END
			Back								Next			
						v	/MU-C	2						
General	Engir Unit	neering	Data Lo	gging	Other	Alarms G	roup							
Passwor	d (0 9	999)							C)	1			

VMU-C EM configuration mask

The paragraphs below describe the individual pages allowing to configure the available functions:

• **GENERAL**: it allows to set a password whose function is protecting the device against unwanted configuration changes or reset commands.

Note: the password described above refers to all the VMU-M EM modules connected to the "COM1" communication port. It shall be identical and shared by all the connected VMU-M EM modules.

 ENGINEERING UNIT: it allows to set the engineering units for temperature measurements (°C or °F).

	VMU-C											
General	Engineering Unit	Data Logging	Other Alarms Group									
Temperature °C •												

Engineering unit configuration mask

DATA LOGGING: It allows to activate the Data Logging function and to define the relevant storage interval

General	Engineering Unit	Data Logging	Other Alarms Group									
Data Logo	Data Logging Enabling Yes 🔻											
Data Logo	jing Time Interv	al (Minutes)		5	•							

Data logging time configuration mask

Note: available values for the storage interval range between 5 and 60 minutes. Intervals may be: 5min – 10min – 15min – 30min – 60 min.



- **OTHER ALARMS GROUP (VMU-C EM)**: this section allows to configure the *Other general alarms* (Fig. 63):
 - Communication Alarm on Port COM1 and/or COM2: should a device connected to the COM1 and/or COM2 communication ports stop communicating for more the 30 sec. (if set), the system will trigger the alarm.

VMU-C							
General	Engineering Unit	Data Logging	Other Alarms Group				
Comunic	ation Alarm on P	ort COM1 and/or	COM2	Disabled	T		

Other alarms group configuration mask

Note: To be able to associate a physical output with these *Other alarms*, the VMU-O module must belong to the VMU-C EM group.



3.7 SENDING THE SYSTEM CONFIGURATION

Once system configuration is completed, the system will display the relevant screen (Fig. 64): all data can be loaded into the MASTER VMU-C EM module. Only after the user has issued the "Send plant data" command shall the data be operational.

			100 B			Mai	iuai si	etup						
START	>	VMU-O	>	EM	\rightarrow	VMU-P	>		>	VMU-M	>	VMU-C	>	END
			Back											
						Send	Plan	Data						
		Config	guratior	n has b	een c	completed	d and	l is ready	to be	e sent to	VMU-	C EM		

While the configuration transfer is under way, the system will display the screen shown below:



The configuration is being loaded into VMU-C EM

Once data transfer is completed the system will display a confirmation message. After having acknowledged by pushing the OK button, the user will be re-addressed to the Home Page



3.7.1 RESUME (SYSTEM) CONFIGURATION

If you exit the setup wizard before it is completed, you'll be able to resume the procedure through the "Resume configuration" command

VMU-C SETTINGS						
Autoscan Devices Connected to VMU-C	Find Connected Vmu-m					
Perform the manual configuration of the devices connected to the VMU-C	Manual Setup					
Resume Configuration	Resume Configuration					
Load Configuration from File	Import					
Resume configuration						

3.7.2 IMPORT (SYSTEM CONFIGURATION)

If the configuration of a plant has been exported using the "SAVE CONFIGURATION" command ,

			OTHER VARIABLES		
	COM SETUP				
	DRIVER	•			
d	SETTING	•	WIZARD		
, u	011000 0011100104 10		SAVE CONFIGURATION		
ion			Pesume Configuration Configuration export comman	d	

you can import the configuration using the "*IMPORT*" command, then you can reload it into the same system or into a new one, thus avoiding having to re-enter all the configuration data.

Load Configuration from File	Import				
Configuration has been successfully completed					



3.8 "OTHER VARIABLES" SETTING

When hovering the mouse over "OTHER VARIABLES" the system will display a dropdown menu showing the list of the variables which can be managed by VMU-C EM through the VMUP-EM module(s):

- ANALOGUE INPUT measurements ("mV" and/or "mA"); 1 channel
- TEMPERATURE measurements (from Pt100 and/or Pt1000, 2 or 3 wires); 2 channels
- Measurements from PULSE RATE INPUT (from pulse input for speed or flow measurements)



"Other variables" configuration

VMU-C EM can, through the VMUP-EM module, manage three different measurement types:

- Analogue output sensors, "120mV" and "20mA"
- Temperature sensors (Pt100 and Pt1000, 2/3 wires)
- Speed or flow measurement sensors

Clicking on one of the buttons corresponding to the individual types of managed sensors (Analogue, Temperature or frequency input), you can display more information about each sensor type:



	ANALOGUE INPUT	
DESCRIPTION	VMU-M	
Analogue_Input	VMU-C EM	Details
Analogue_Input	VMU-M_001	• Details
	DETAILS	
Description	Analogue_Input]
Address VMU-M	VMU-M_001	
Position VMU-P	1	
Save	Reset	Cancel

You can define for each sensor a description which will help you identify, during reading, the sensor from which the measurement comes. The system will also display the following details:

- VMU-M address (or VMU-C address): ModBus address of the VMU-M or VMU-C module the sensor is connected to;
- VMU-P position: it indicates the position of the VMU-P module within the group;
- Channel: it indicates the position of the sensor inside the VMU-P module;

Press the "*Reset*" button to cancel the newly entered changes; you can also press "*Cancel*" to cancel the newly entered changes; unlike the "*Reset*"; with this operation the user shall exit the "Sensor details page". Save the newly specified sensor settings by pressing the "Save" button.



4 HOME PAGE

Clicking on the "Home" icon in the Navigation menu will grant access to the screen showing the trend of power absorbed by the system during the current and the previous days, with a 5-minute sample resolution.



The chart can be displayed in "Line" or "Area" mode

On the abscissa axis the chart displays the hours of the day from 00:00 to 23:55, while on the ordinate axis it displays the power in kW; the maximum ordinate value is set automatically by an auto-range function.

The chart is automatically updated every 5 minutes. Hovering the mouse cursor over the chart area will display the relevant power value

You can also select 3 different chart types:

- On a daily basis (DAY): the system displays the charts referring to the trend of the current day and of the previous one.
- On a weekly basis (WEEK): the system displays the histograms referring to the trend of the current week and of the previous one (always from Monday to Sunday)
- On a monthly basis (MONTH): the system displays the histograms referring to the trend of the current month and of the previous one (always from the first to the last day of the month)
- **Note:** for the daily chart you can choose between line or area display. Only histogram display is available for weekly and monthly charts.





System weekly "AC" power



System Monthly "AC" power

• Print chart

By clicking on the Print button located in the lower right corner of the chart area, you can select which printer shall be used to print the chart.


5 MONITOR - METER DATA ANALYSIS

This section is devoted to the meter data analysis and allows to display in the main chart the trend of the main variables, like Current/Power Factor for each individual phase, System voltage (star and line), Power (active and reactive system power), analogue variables like Temperature, signal from pulse and analogue input (when available and anyway coming from VMU-P EM modules). Click on the "Monitor" icon in the Navigation menu to access the screen shown below:



Production data analysis

It is possible to select both the target meter and the variables' trend; the available trends are:

Trend	Variables
	AL1,
the VMU-C displays the three tracks	ALZ,
referring to the three phase currents	AL3
PF,Hz	PF L1,
the VMU-C displays the three tracks	PF L2,
referring to the three individual phase	PF L3,
power factors, and the system's PF and	PF Sys,
frequency	Hz
VLL	V12
the VMU-C displays the tracks referring to	V23
the voltages (line to line voltages).	V31
	VLL sys
VLN	VL1N
the VMU-C displays the tracks referring to	VL2N
the voltages (star voltages).	VL3N
	VLNsys
kW	kW1
	KW2
	kW3



Trend	Variables
	Active Power (system)
	Reactive power (System)
kvar	kvar1
	Kvar2
	kvar3
	Active Power (system)
	Reactive power (System)
Analogue variables	VMU-P environmental variables (note that
	disconnected environmental channels are
	marked with an asterisk)

a) Graphic functions

Charts consist of an X-axis, showing day hours from 00:00 a.m. to 11:55 p.m., and of as many Y-axes as the number of dimensions to be shown. Each Y axis has a scale of its own, automatically sized according to the magnitude it refers to. To enable or disable (hide) a track, just click on the variable name (located under the X axis). The curve is displayed or removed right away, without having to refresh the page.

Hovering the mouse cursor over the chart area will open a window showing the numerical value of each displayed variable.

Print chart

Clicking on the "Print" button located in the bottom right of the chart area you can specify which printer shall be used to print the chart .

b) Historical data analysis and graphic display

By means of the calendar tool it is possible to select the desired time interval to be displayed:



MAIN METERS DATA ANALYSIS

Date interval selection

Select the desired day and press "Refresh chart" button.

Note: the date field cannot be edited; date can only be selected through the relevant calendar.



Note: If chart is not displayed and a white area with the caption "No data to display" appears, it means that no data is available for the selected day.



5.1 "CURRENTS" CHART



Main meter Currents chart (AL1, AL2 and AL3)

The chart displays the three phase currents. These currents refer to the instrument of choice (real or virtual according to the system configuration settings). Data may be displayed on a daily, monthly or yearly basis.





5.2 "POWER FACTORS" CHART



Power factors chart (for each individual phase)

The Chart allows to compare the 3 individual phase Power Factors (PF1, PF2 and PF3), the system PF and frequency. These values refer to the instrument of choice(real or virtual according to the system configuration settings).

Data may be displayed on a daily, monthly or yearly basis.



5.3 "VOLTAGES" CHART



The Chart compares the 2 voltage sets of data (VLNsys: star system voltage and VLLsys: line system voltage).

These values refer to the instrument of choice (real or virtual according to the system configuration settings).

Should the reference instrument be virtual, the voltages shown in the chart represent the average value of the voltages measured by each individual real instrument. Data may be displayed on a daily, monthly or yearly basis.



5.4 "POWER" CHART



System power trend chart (kW and kvar)

The chart compares the 2 system power magnitudes (kW: active system power; kvar: reactive system power).

These values refer to the nstrument of choice (real or virtual according to the system configuration settings).

Should the reference instrument be virtual, the powers shown in the chart represent the sum of the system powers (kW and kvar) measured by each individual real instrument. Data may be displayed on a daily, monthly or yearly basis.



5.5 "ANALOGUE VARIABLES" CHART

1)	11-09-2	2014		31	Sep	tember v	2014 •			365	2014	● AC	0 D
				_		Ana	logue Varia	ables 🔻			test			•
	20													
	" [
	25										~			
	20													
	~													
	15 -													
	10													
	5													
	0													
ľ	00:0	0 0	2:00	04:00	06:00	08:00	10:00	12:00	14:00	16:00	18:00	20:00	22:00	
			VMU-P)	Temp_ch	n1 (°C) -	— * (VMU	-P) VMUM	Femp_ch2	(°C) —	* (VMU-P)	Analogue	_Input (mA)	
				I MISE I										

Analogue variables

By selecting "Analogue variables" you can display the 4 magnitudes listed below:

- a. *"Temperature 1 (channel 1 of the VMUP) °C"*
- b. "Temperature 2 (channel 2 of the VMUP) °C"

Note: these inputs (channel 1 and 2) for temperature measurement can read data from "Pt100" or "Pt1000" probes with 2 or 3 wires.

c. "Pulse rate input (VMUP pulse input)"

Note: the pulse frequency input allows to measure a frequency signal for flow or speed measurements.

d. *"Analogue input (analogue input "mV" or "mA" of the VMUP)*"

Note: the "mV" type analogue input is available on the module VMUP**2TIW**XSEM The "mA" type input is available on the module VMUP**2TCW**XSEM.

The box shown below allows to select the master to which the VMUP is connected: This selection allows to set whether the displayed variables belong to the VMU-P directly connected to the VMU-C EM or to one of the VMU-M EM connected by RS485 to the VMU-C EM itself. Variables relevant to disconnected sensors are marked with an asterisk and not shown by default.



Note: the sampling frequency in charts (analogue variables, temperature and pulse signal), depends on the storage interval set on VMU-C, which may be equal to 5,10,15,30,60 minutes.

5.6 DC MAIN METER CHARTS

By the selection AC/DC put on the top right of the page MAIN METERS DATA ANALYSIS

● AC ○ DC

the display can be changed from the AC main meter (virtual or real) to the DC main meter (virtual or real).

In this case the only available graph compares the 3 DC main variables: voltage, current power.



6 PLANT DATA CHARTS

This section displays in graphical form all the data acquired by VMU-C EM and read by the different devices (energy meters and VMU-P modules for analogue variables). Click on the "Plant" icon in the Navigation menu to access the following page :



Production data charts

At the top there is the menu allowing to access the following sections:

- 1. **"ENERGY DATA"**: section devoted to the reading (in graphical form) of the energy and power value from the Energy Meters (EM).
- 2. "COUNTERS": section devoted to the reading (in graphical form) of the values from external meters, like water meter, gas meter, etc, collected by the Energy Meters (EM) through pulse inputs.
- 3. "**REAL-TIME VARIABLES**": section devoted to the real-time reading of the variables read through the Energy Meters (EM).
- 4. **"OTHER VARIABLES"**: section devoted to the reading (in graphical form) of the analogue values (temperature, speed/flow, generic from analogue input) read through the VMU-P EM modules.



6.1 ENERGY DATA

Hovering the mouse cursor over "ENERGY DATA" will display the items "MAIN METER AC", "ENERGY METERS AC", "MAIN METER DC", "ENERGY METERS DC".

6.1.1 MAIN METER

The power/energy curve represents the sum of all the contributions from the energy meters (EM), respectively AC or DC, monitored by the system in the selected time interval. In building this curve the system only takes into account the instrument which is identified as "*Main meter*"

If the "*Main meter*" is of virtual type (being the result of the contribution of multiple real instruments the displayed curve will be built as the sum of all the instruments whose contribution to the virtual instrument has been enabled.

Note: if no instrument has been set as "Main meter" and at the same time none of the installed instruments has been set to contribute to the virtual instrument, the page "Main meter" will include no chart.

Note: in charts the sampling frequency (for Power and Energy), depends on the storage interval set on VMU-C. It can be: 5,10,15,30,60 minutes.



Main meter chart

This page consists of two sections:

Section A for search and selection (in the top section of the page) display type selection buttons:



 1 	27-06-2014	0 31	June	▼ 2014 ▼	(<u>)</u>	2014	T
® kW ○ I	kWh						

- **Daily**: it shows the daily trend of power or energy on the selected day. (To choose the day use the special calender which can be accessed through the button next to the date field)
- **Monthly**: it shows the average daily power or the total measured energy, for each day of the selected month. To choose the month and year use the special selection menus next to the field.
- **Annual**: it shows the average monthly power or the total measured energy, for each month of the selected year. To choose the year use the special selection menu next to the field.

Note: only the line view is available for the daily Power and Energy charts. In the monthly and yearly view, the Power trend chart can be displayed both in line and bar (histogram) form; the energy chart can only be displayed in bar form (histograms).

Note: in daily charts the sampling frequency depends on the storage interval set on VMU-C. It can be: 5,10,15,30,60 minutes.

 The (A) section also includes the buttons allowing to select the variable to be displayed: Energy (kWh) or Power (kW).

Section B. On the abscissa axis (X) the chart displays time. The relevant resolution (hours, days, months) will depend on the selected view type (daily, monthly, yearly). On the ordinate axis(Y) the chart displays the power value in kW or the energy value in kWh, with an automatically sized scale (with auto-range function).





In the top left of this section there is a menu allowing to select the graphical display mode: "Line" (a continuous line) or "Bar" (for histograms).

Note: we recommend that you use the "Line" display for the daily Power data and the "Bar" mode (for histograms) for the monthly and yearly energy data.

Displaying a value in the chart

Hovering the mouse cursor over the chart area will open a window with the relevant variable value .



Displaying of a value

Print chart

Clicking on the "*Print*" icon located in the bottom right corner of the chart area you can select the printer you wish to use.



6.1.2 ENERGY METERS (PARTIAL)

Hovering the mouse cursor on "ENERGY DATA" and selecting the "ENERGY METERS" item will grant access to a window displaying the daily trend of the power measured by each energy meter of the plant. Each curve has a different colour and can be identified by the legend on chart bottom. Use the "Energy meter name" menu to display the production curve of a specific instrument, as well.



ENERGY METERS - PARTIAL METERS chart

This page is divided into two sections:

A. Section A, for search and selection (on the TOP)

It allows to select the display type, using the dark grey buttons:

- **Daily**: daily trend of power or energy on the selected day. To select the day use the calendar, which can be accessed by pressing the button next to the date field.
- Monthly: average daily power or total produced energy, for each day of the selected month. To select the day use the calendar, which can be accessed by pressing the button next to the date field.
- Annual: average daily power or total produced energy, for each month of the selected year. To select the day use the calendar, which can be accessed by pressing the button next to the date field.

After selecting the display type press the "Refresh Chart" button.

The light grey buttons on the left you can select the type of magnitude to be shown: *Power* or *Energy*.

The energy meter selection menu is displayed in light grey. The list contains:



- The list of all the names assigned to the energy meters included in VMU-C EM; when selecting an individual meter, only the relevant curve will be displayed.
- The "ALL" item, allowing to simultaneously display all the energy meters configured and existing in the plant.
- The "EM_VIRTUAL" item displays the data associated with the virtual instrument, which, depending on the configuration page settings, represents the sum of two or more real instruments (or anyway of all the instruments for which the check box "contribution to the virtual instrument" has been enabled.

Note: comparing the trends of the measurements of the different energy meters allows to easily identify any anomalies in the consumptions of the individual plant instruments.

Note: all keys and selections outside the dark grey area do not need the "Refresh chart" function. After a few moments the chart will refresh automatically.

B. "Section B" contains the charts (on the BOTTOM)

On the abscissa axis (X) the chart displays the time references; the resolution (hours, days, months) depends on the selected display type (daily, monthly, yearly). On the ordinate axis(Y) the chart displays the power value in kW or the energy value in kWh, with an automatically sized scale (with auto-range function).

In the top left of this section there is a menu allowing to select the graphical display mode: "Line" (a continuous line) or "Bar" (for histograms).

On the abscissa axis (X) the chart displays time; the resolution (hours, days, months) depends on the selected display type (daily, monthly, yearly). On the ordinate axis (Y) the chart displays power in kW or energy in kWh, with a scale automatically sized according to the plant peak power.

Note: we recommend that you use the "Line" or "Area" display for the daily Power data and the "Bar" display (for histograms) for the monthly and yearly energy data.

6.2 COUNTERS (GENERIC FROM DIGITAL INPUTS)

Hovering the mouse cursor on "COUNTERS" and then clicking on the "ENERGY METERS" item will grant access to the generic meter screen (counting the pulses collected by the digital inputs of the Energy meters installed on the system, Fig. 98).



Generic counter (H2O, GAS, ...) access selection



As soon as the user accesses the page, the system displays the daily trend of the monitored meters installed in the specific plant. To simplify the identification of each individual track, every individual curve/line has a different colour and can be identified through the legend in the bottom section of the chart. The "Description" menu allows to select and display the meter trend from the specific instruments.



Fig. 99 – Generic meters (H2O, GAS, ...)

This page consists of two sections:

"Section A" for search and selection (in the top section of the page)

It allows to select the display type, using the dark grey buttons:

- **Daily**: it displays the daily trend of the meters for the selected day. To choose the day use the special calender which can be accessed through the button next to the date field.
- **Monthly**: it displays the daily average of the meters, for each day of the selected month. To choose the month and year use the special selection menus next to the field.
- Annual: it displays the meter trend (on a monthly basis) for each month of the selected year. To choose the year use the special selection menu next to the field.

After selecting the display type press the "Refresh Chart" button.

On the right there is a menu allowing to select the Energy Meter the digital inputs refer to. The list includes all the instruments, with the enabled meters from digital instruments.



Note: all keys and selections outside the dark grey area do not need the "Refresh chart" function. After a few moments the chart will refresh automatically.



C. "Section B", displaying in graphical form the trend of the different meters from the digital inputs.

On the abscissa axis (X) the chart displays the time references; the relevant resolution (hours, days, months) depends on the selected display type (daily, monthly, annual). On the ordinate axis (Y) the chart displays the numerical references (automatically scaled) for each meter.

For this type of view only the "Line" track is available (the "bar" button is not enabled).



Generic meters (H2O, GAS, ...) - monthly display

Note: for monthly and yearly data we recommend that you use the "Bar" display (for histograms).



6.3 TRENDS

6.3.1 Trends Editing



Customized trends management page

By means of the "TREND" submenu it is possible to create and save customized trends of groups of variables chosen from the available set. Any mix of variables from any energy meter or VMU-P module may be chosen.

By the "TRENDS CONFIGURATION" page it is possible to:

Function	How to
Add new trends	By means of the "Add" button
Remove an existing trend	By means of the "Remove" button
Modify an existing trend's settings	By means of the "Modify" button



NOTHICATION				I		\$	0		*	22	0	Powered by VMU-C		
		-		-								USER		
Å	00 ALADES 00 ANOMALIZES 00 COMMANZES 00 COMMANZES 00 COMMANZES 00 COMMANZES 01 COM 3	INS ENERGY DATA COUNTERS IS INVEST 1 2 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		TRENDS VARIABLES CONFIGUR Mater comparison		RE	REALTINE VARIABLES URATION & mattin Variables		OTHER VARIABLES		admite Thursday, 11 September 2 02117 PM			
		MAI	Uneter	•	-	•	KW875	÷	•	Averag 🔻			-	
*	Active Prover -203864.69 kW Beachive Prover -10,44 kvar Active Energy 157189.53 kWh Beachive Energy 32239.78 kvarh Yoarly Energy 1893623.46 \$ Muddaj Energy 684471.63 \$	MG 1		*		• • • • • • • • • •	Works			Average *		System PEI-PH 17263406.00 V Phase 1 9538611.00 V Phase 2 10042376.00 V Phase 3 9927688.00 V Phase 1 2068216.25 A Phase 2 1627334.63 A		
9	Daily Energy 574485.76 \$		1	Notes					Sere			Phase 3 1531804.63 A	4	

Customized trends management page - Modify

By the "Modify" page it is possible to:

Function	How to			
Add a new Name to the customized trend	By means of the "Label" field			
Select an Instrument	By means of the "Instrument" drop-down list (Disabled instrument are marked with an asterisk)			
Select a module (relevant to the instrument of choice)	By means of the "Module" drop-down list (i.e. it is possible to select a VMU-P module from a VMU-C instrument)			
Select a variable (relevant to the instrument and module of choice)	 By means of the "Variables" drop-down list The following variables' types are marked with an asterisk: Variables of disabled instruments Variables not available (i.e. temperatures from VMU-P modules without temperature sensors physically connected) 			
Select the type of the trend, chosen by average, maximum, minimum values	By means of the "Type" drop-down list			
Selecting the color of the trend	By means of the relevant color selection control			
Add notes	By means of the "Notes" field			

By pushing "Save" it is possible to store the trend





Customized trends management page - CHARTS

By choosing CHARTS in the TRENDS menu it is possible to display the trend of choice. Trend selection is made by the DESCRIPTION drop-down list



6.4 REAL TIME VARIABLES

Hovering the mouse cursor over "REALTIME VARIABLES" and then over "ENERGY METERS AC" or "ENERGY METERS DC" will grant access to the following screen:

CARD GANED		偷		1		\$	G Internation		*	22	0	Powered by VMU-C		
N	DIFFICATION											USEN		
A.	00 ALARMS 00 ARCHALIES 19 EVENTS	ENERGY D	ата	COUNTERS		TRENDS	REA	ALTIME VARIAL	sites (THER VARIA	BLES	(1) adverse		
- A - A	OR COMMANDS		Inergy Meter N	ame MAR	N_meter			Ref	resh Time	18 4		Thurning, 23 Septem	lar 201	
	B CDM3	Realtine Re	radinge				System	LT (A)	120	ê)	L3 (C)	61-10 191		
1	Active Prover 1052.85 kW Reactive Prover	Active Pow	er (kW)				25.0	341	14		192.00		1.	
		Reactive Po	wer (kunt)				-8102	-0.07	18	8	100	2012 C. 1997 P. 1		
		W Apparent P	ower (kVA)				20.00	16.88	**	1	1984	59302mi PH-PH		
		Power Fact	04				100	6.67	14	6	5.00	Plane 1		
	-10.23 k	ar Frequency	(Hz)				39.7					9876350.00 V		
	Active Ene	Current (A)						44.94	10.0	£.	12.27	Phase 2		
	183422.58 kl	Wh Phase-phas	e Voltage (V)				102.00	392.00	344		10275	9988855.00 V		
4	Descrive Cite	Phase-to-re	natral Voltage (v)			10177.0	10.42	. 201		In Plane 3	Phase 3		
1	32239.78 KV2	irm imported (E	sported) Activ	Emergy (kWh	e		10141.7					9882903.00 V		
	Yearly Ene	imported (E	ixported) React	ive Energy (ky	often		10107					Phase I		
	1904508.5	9 \$ THD Current	6454					14.92	63		.10	2361353.00 A		
	ADEXEC P	e THD Voltag	e (%)					144	++		1.04	Physe 2		
	Daily Ene	10										1803883.88 A		
	685470.9	0.5										Phase 3		
~												1882030.00 A		
5														
а.													ň	

ENERGY DATA	Sectio counters			REALTIME VARIABLES	OTHER	VARIABLES
Energy Meter Nar	me MAIN_mete	۲.	T	Refresh Ti	me [10 s 🔻
Realtime Readings	ע המנה שרוע הענה וענה שינה המנה אותר שרוע היום הענה שלה ש	שאנה האותר השנה המלוה המלוח השנה השנה שלום אלום אותר האות ה	System	L1 (A)	L2 (B)	L3 (C)
Active Power (kW)			27.63	10.47	7.58	9.58
Reactive Power (kvar)			-7.14	-2.77	-2.48	-1.89
Apparent Power (kVA)			28.74	10.90	7.98	9.89
Power Factor			0.96	0.96	0.95	0.97
Frequency (Hz)	Section	an B	50.0			
Current (A)	Sect			48.04	34.84	43.14
Phase-phase Voltage (V)			392.98	392.60	393.16	393.20
Phase-to-neutral Voltage (V))		226.79	225.75	228.31	226.32
Imported (Exported) Active	Energy (kWh)		36961.6			
Imported (Exported) Reactiv	e Energy (kvarh)		2290.7			
THD Current (%)				13.50	19.51	12.66
THD Voltage (%)				3.26	3.15	3.18





This page consists of two sections:

- A. "Section A", on the TOP, allowing to make searches and to select the refresh time.
 - **Energy meter name**: select the instrument from which you wish to read the variables in real time.
 - **Refresh time**: select the refresh time for the displayed data (5, 10, 30 or 60 seconds).
- B. "Section B",on the BOTTOM, displaying all the values refreshed according to the interval selected above. In case of DC energy meter, the available set of variables is limited to current, voltage, power and DC energy.

Note: The "Energy meter name" item allow to select a different instrument through the drop-down menu; the relevant data will then be immediately updated.



6.5 OTHER VARIABLES

Hovering the mouse cursor over "OTHER VARIABLES" will display the following screen:

	ANALOGUE INPUT
in	TEMPERATURE
	PULSE RATE INPUT
	"Other variables" menu

6.5.1 ANALOGUE INPUT

As soon as the user accesses the "ANALOGUE INPUT" page, the system will display the data from the VMU-P EM modules, and more precisely from the "mV" or "mA" inputs of the module itself.

Accessing this page will display the daily trend of the variable monitored by the abovementioned analogue input.



Analogue input variable trend

This page consists of two sections:

"Section A" for search and selection (in the top section of the page). It allows to select the display type, using the dark grey buttons:



- **Daily**: it displays the daily trend of the variable for the selected day. To choose the day use the special calender which can be accessed through the button next to the date field.
- **Monthly**: it displays the daily average of the value monitored by the analogue input, for every day of the selected month. To choose the month and year use the special selection menus next to the field.
- **Annual**: it displays the trend of the average (monthly) value monitored by the analogue input, for each month of the selected year. To choose the year use the special selection menu next to the field.

After selecting the display type press the "Refresh Chart" button.

On the right there is the menu allowing to select the analogue input. The list shall include all enabled analogue inputs.

Note: all keys and selections outside the dark grey area do not need the "Refresh chart" function. After a few moments the chart will refresh automatically.

D. **"Section B"** displays in graphical form the trend of the selected variable, (in the bottom section of the page).

On the ordinate axis (Y) the chart shows the scaled value for the monitored value (with auto-range function).

Two display types are available: "Line" track or "Area" track.

Note: in daily charts the sampling frequency depends on the storage interval set on VMU-C EM; it can be: 5,10,15,30,60 minutes.



6.5.2 TEMPERATURE

As soon as the user accesses the "TEMPERATURE" page, the system displays the data coming from the VMU-P EM modules, and more precisely from the inputs for temperature measurement (from Pt100 and/or Pt1000) of the module itself.

Accessing this page will display the daily trend of the variable monitored by the abovementioned analogue input.



This page consists of two sections:

"Section A" for search and selection (in the top section of the page)

It allows to select the display type, using the dark grey buttons:

- **Daily**: it displays the daily trend of the variable for the selected day. To choose the day use the special calender which can be accessed through the button next to the date field.
- **Monthly**: it displays the daily average of the value monitored by the temperature input, for every day of the selected month. To choose the month and year use the special selection menus next to the field.
- **Annual**: it displays the trend of the average (monthly) value monitored by the temperature input, for each month of the selected year. To choose the year use the special selection menu next to the field.

After selecting the display type press the "Refresh Chart" button.

On the right there is the menu allowing to select the temperature input. The list shall include all enabled inputs.

Note: all keys and selections outside the dark grey area do not need the "Refresh chart" function. After a few moments the chart will refresh automatically.



E. **"Section B"** (on the bottom) displays in graphical form the trend of the selected variable.

On the ordinate axis (Y) the chart shows the scaled value for the monitored value (with auto-range function).

Two display types are available: "Line" track or "Area" track.

Note: in daily charts the sampling frequency depends on the storage interval set on VMU-C EM. It can be: 5,10,15,30,60 minutes.

6.5.3 PULSE RATE INPUT

As soon as the user accesses the "PULSE RATE INPUT" page, the system displays the data coming from the VMU-P EM modules, and more precisely from the inputs for digital input measurement (for frequency/speed measurement) of the module itself. Accessing this page will display the daily trend of the variable monitored by the above-mentioned digital input.

ENERGY DATA	COUNTE	RS	REALTIME VARIABLES	OTHER	OTHER VARIABLES		
Daily	05-07-2013	Monthly July	- 2013 -	O Annual	2013	+	
				T	escription		
		Refresh	Chart	Pulse_Rate_	ulse_Rate_Input		
e line () a	*** 0.05	PULSE RA	TE INPUT				
INHUT	1.025	6	_				
SE RATE	0	Pulse_Rate_Inpu	at : 0				
PUC	0.025						
-	0.05	06:00 08:00 10:00	12:00 14:00 16:0	0 18:00 20:0	0 22:00 23	55	
		- Pulse_Ra	te_Input				

Digital input variable trend

This page consists of two sections:

"Section A" for search and selection (in the top section of the page)

It allows to select the display type, using the dark grey buttons:

- **Daily**: it displays the daily trend of the variable for the selected day. To choose the day use the special calendar which can be accessed through the button next to the date field.
- **Monthly**: it displays the daily average of the value monitored by the digital input, for every day of the selected month. To choose the month and year use the special selection menus next to the field.
- **Annual**: it displays the trend of the average (monthly) value monitored by the digital input, for each month of the selected year. To choose the year use the special selection menu next to the field.





After selecting the display type press the "Refresh Chart" button.

On the right there is the menu allowing to select the digital input. The list shall include all enabled inputs.

Note: all keys and selections outside the dark grey area do not need the "Refresh chart" function. After a few moments the chart will refresh automatically.

F. "Section B" displays in graphical form the trend of the selected variable.

On the ordinate axis (Y) the chart shows the scaled value for the monitored value (with auto-range function).

Two display types are available: "Line" track or "Area" track.

Note: in daily charts the sampling frequency depends on the storage interval set on VMU-C EM. It can be: 5,10,15,30,60 minutes.



7 GENERAL CHART FEATURES

7.1 ZOOM FEATURE

You can use the ZOOM function in any Chart display page, it allows you to zoom a particular area of the graph for further analysis.

The ZOOM function is fast and easy. The picture below shows the sequence of operations to perform:

Example of a graph that you want to further analyze. In particular, we want to analyze the area highlighted with the orange dotted area:

Move your mouse pointer " k" to point "A" and using the mouse hold down the left mouse button drag the pointer to point "B" :



Zoom Function

As soon as the left mouse button is released, the zoomed area is highlighted the performance of the charts can be further analysed:





Zoomed area

The zoom function is available for all chart types (histogram and area charts). By the RESET ZOOM button it is possible to come back to the initial scaling.

7.2 REFRESH FEATURE

By the refresh button, available in each chart in bottom-left position, it is possible to refresh the displayed view



7.3 PRINT FEATURE

By the PRINT button, available in each chart in bottom-right position, it is possible to print the present chart







8 ALARMS

This section is devoted to the management and display of the alarms which have occurred during installation. Clicking on the "Alarm" icon in the Navigation menu will grant access to the alerts content

	Р н	ome	Monitor	Plant	Alarn	ns Econo	my Information	Export		Account	? Help)		
					_	J								
		DIANT ALARMS												
h	Z .	lavas	Z Anoma		Evente	Z Com		6	/ Wiew only on	on Alarma				
ľ	_	uarms			Events		nanus	Delete	view only op	en Alarms				
ı.		Show All				HIDE All		Delete		Command	s			
	ID	Messa	qe D	escription	Module	Start Date	Start Time	End Date	End Time	Zone	Hide			
1	5247	Power On	Strine	-Box1	VMILC	19-05-2014	01:52:01 PM			Amorphous		_		
	5246	Power Off	Strin	g-Box1	VMU-C	19-05-2014	01:51:26 PM			Amorphous				
	5243	Power On	Strin	a-Box3	VMU-M	19-05-2014	01:51:30 PM			Monocrystalline				
	5242	Power On	Strin	g-Box2	VMU-M	19-05-2014	01:51:30 PM			Polycrystalline				
	5241	Power Off	Strin	g-Box3	VMU-M	19-05-2014	01:51:25 PM			Monocrystalline				
	5240	Power Off	Strin	g-Box2	VMU-M	19-05-2014	01:51:25 PM			Polycrystalline				
	4144	Power On	Strin	g-Box1	VMU-C	22-04-2014	08:49:14 AM			Amorphous				
	4143	Power Off	Strin	g-Box1	VMU-C	22-04-2014	08:48:46 AM			Amorphous				
1	4140	Power On	Strin	g-Box3	VMU-M	22-04-2014	08:48:53 AM			Monocrystalline				
	4139	Power On	Strin	g-Box2	VMU-M	22-04-2014	08:48:53 AM			Polycrystalline				
	4138	Power Off	String	g-Box3	VMU-M	22-04-2014	08:48:47 AM			Monocrystalline				
1	4137	Power Off	String	g-Box2	VMU-M	22-04-2014	08:48:48 AM			Polycrystalline				
	4075	Power On	String	g-Box1	VMU-C	11-04-2014	08:31:02 AM			Amorphous				
	4074	Power Off	String	g-Box1	VMU-C	11-04-2014	08:30:35 AM			Amorphous				
	4071	Power On	String	g-Box3	VMU-M	11-04-2014	08:30:43 AM			Monocrystalline				
	4070	Power On	String	g-Box2	VMU-M	11-04-2014	08:30:43 AM			Polycrystalline		-		

Alarms

This table shows the list of alarms stored in VMU-C EM in chronological order, starting from the most recent.

Note: alarm classification cannot be changed by user.

Alarms are divided into three categories, each one with a different colour assigned to it.



"Alarms" include all the warnings associated with the temperature measurements and with the measurements from analogue and digital inputs (from the VMU-M EM and/or VMU-P EM). Any alarm due to the overstepping of the thresholds set in the VMU-C EM for the energy meter instruments causes a warning inside the "ALARM" category. This type of event generally inform the user of a situation which needs to be resolved quickly in the monitored system.



"Anomalies" include all the statuses from the monitored devices and signalling an incorrect operation of the temperature probes (shortcircuited or disconnected probe), or any notifications of communication problems on the internal bus or on one of the two RS485 buses (should a device installed and enabled for





communication on bus RS485 fail to communicate for over 30 seconds, an "Anomaly" message will be generated). Anomalies generally inform the user of a situation which needs to be resolved quickly in the monitored system.

Events

"Events" include all the status changes of digital inputs, the power supply status change (on/ff) and all the changes in the configuration of the instruments or modules connected and monitored by the VMU-C EM.

• Filter application on alarm table view

The following controls are available:

Alerts filter	Alarms	Anomalies	C Events	Commands
To filter the desired				
subset of alerts				
Buttons bar	Hide All		elete	Commands
Allowing to :				
-HIDE ALL: to apply				
the HIDE check to all				
the alarms				
-DELETE: to delete				
all the alarms				
-COMMANDS: to				
open the				
COMMANDS page				
(see the further				
section)	_			
View only open	🗹 View only op	ben Alarms		
alarms check				
I o include only open				
alarms in the list				
Show All check	Show All			
To view all the				
alarms including the				
hidden ones				

• "Alarms" table fields

The Alarms table shows the following fields:

- 1. "**ID**": Event identification number (Alarm or Anomaly or Event). This meter is only reset when all existing messages have been deleted.
- 2. "Message": alarm description.
- 3. "Description": name assigned to the device during configuration.
- 4. "**Module**": address of the primary device (VMU-C EM or relevant VMU-M EM or Energy Meter) and position of the secondary device (VMU-P or VMU-O) in alarm.
- 5. "Start date": date on which the alarm occurred.
- 6. "**Start time**": time at which the alarm occurred.



- 7. "End date": date on which the alarm ceased. If alarm still exists, the field will be blank.
- 8. "End time": time at which the alarm ceased. If alarm still exists, the field will be blank.
- 9. "Hide": if checked, the alarm row will be automatically hidden.

Note: To view all alarms, including the hidden ones, check "Show all" in the top right section of the screen. If the option is selected, a hidden alarm can be viewed again by simply unchecking "*Hide*".

8.1 COMMANDS

PLANT SETUP - COMMANDS										
	All Outputs T	est	ON	OFF						
	ON	OFF			ON	OFF				
	ON	OFF			ON	OFF				
	ON	OFF			ON	OFF				
	ON	OFF			ON	OFF				
	ON	OFF			ON	OFF				
	ON	OFF			ON	OFF				
	ON	OFF			ON	OFF				
	ON	OFF			ON	OFF				
	ON	OFF			ON	OFF				
	ON	OFF			ON	OFF				

Commands setup

The COMMANDS setup page is opened by the relevant PUSH button in the Alarms section.

By this page it is possible to change explicitly the ON or OFF status of the relevant output configured in the VMU-O module (see the relevant instructions in the Configuration Wizard section)




9 ECONOMIC ANALYSIS

This section is devoted to the economic analysis of the installation. It allows to calculate the costs of the consumed AC energy.

Clicking on the "Economy" icon in the Navigation menu will grant access to the relevant content -



As soon as the user accesses the page, the chart displays, for the current month (with a daily resolution), the total cost in \in of the amount of energy consumed, taking into account the two tariffs (T1 and T2) previously set by the user. To select another month or a yearly time interval, use the dark grey section on top and press the "Refresh chart" button.

The chart displayed above provides 4 different selections (Section "A"), referring to the total energy consumption in the selected month, or just to the active or reactive energy. A further selection is also available to display, for each tariff, the date on which the highest consumption has occurred.

- **Total**: each histogram represents the total consumption (for each tariff) of the day. The value takes into account both the consumed active energy value (kWh) and the reactive component (kvarh). The fixed monthly cost is also considered in calculating the daily values.
- *kWh*: each histogram represents the total consumption (for each tariff) of the day. The value only takes into account the consumed active energy value (kWh).
- **kvarh**: each histogram represents the contribution (for each tariff) due to the reactive energy (kvarh) injected into the network for the day.
- **kWmax**: this chart allows to identify the day of the month in question on which the maximum power absorption (kWmax for each time band) has occurred. This value is only displayed in case it should exceed the contract power threshold



previously set by the user. The value is expressed in the currency set in the setup page.

Note: for the four chart types described above, the value expressed on the Y axis must always refer to the cost expressed in the currency set during programming.

In the **"B"** section area, with reference to the selections made in section **"A"**, the system will display the total values for each time band (T1 and T2) and the relevant total.



10 INFORMATION

This section displays the data and characteristics of the monitored plant. Clicking on the "Information" icon in the Navigation menu will grant access to the relevant content

			稐		ų.		\$	0		*	22	0	Powered by VMU-C	
	1001	DESCATION	-										USER	
À	10.00	00 ALARPHE 10 ARCIMALIER 14 EVENTS 00 COMMANES 06 COM 1 06 COM 2	и уми с	STATUS			УМU-С	CI PLANT CH	URACTERIST	cs.			admin Friday, 27 June 05:32 PH	2014
	7	Active Power 42.76 kW Bisactive Power -52.15 kVar Active Lorryy 131719.73 kWh Bisactive Energy 0,74 kVarh feathy Energy Cost 176652.07 € onthly Energy Cost 28390.13 € Daily Energy Cost 882.12 €			VMU F CONI	-C SERIAL MAC IRMWARE CONNECTE NECTED AN ETHERNE MODEL RVER SYN	NUMBER ADDRESS VERSION D VMU-M C METERS T STATUS M STATUS C STATUS	: BC028000 : 00-19-EE- : A5_B23 : 1 : 4	2001U 10-01-55				System Pit-Pit 0.00 V Phase 1 0.00 V Phase 2 0.00 V Phase 3 0.00 V Phase 1 34.07 A Phase 3 34.07 A Phase 3 20.14 A	12
lä														a da

Plant characteristics

There are 2 sub-selections available from the information page:

- 1. VMU-C Status
- 2. Plant characteristics



10.1VMU-C STATUS

By this page it is possible to check in real time the main configuration settings relevant to the VMU-C device.



VMU-C Status

Parameter	Description
VMU-C Serial Number	It is the unique S/N of the VMU-C
MAC Address	It is the unique MAC address of the VMU-
	C's Ethernet port
Firmware version	The present firmware version in use in the
	VMU-C
Connected VMU-M	The connected VMU-M's count (on COM1)
Connected AC Meters	The connected Energy Meters' count (on
	COM1)
Ethernet Status	The Ethernet status (RED in the case of
	issues)
Modem Status	The VMU-W modem status (RED in the
	case of issues)
Server Sync Status	The status of data synchronization with the
	remote Eos-Server or VMU-Y in the case
	one of those systems is in use (RED in the
	case of issues)



10.2 Plant characteristics

VMU-C STATUS									
PLANT CHARACTERISTICS									
	Plant Name	VMUC-EM DATA PU	ян						
	Plant Location	Ponte Nelle Alpi							
	Plant Property	Carlo Gavazzi							
	Installer	Carlo Gavazzi							
	VMU-C Installation Date	2014-02-04							
		CONT	RACT H	IGHLIGHTS					
	Fixed Monthly Costs	kWh Unit Cost	k	varh Unit Cost	Wmax Monthly	Cost Max	Contractual Peak		
Tariff 1	200.0€	1.5€		0.5€	3.0 €		100.0 kW		
Tariff 2	150.0 €	0.75€		0.5€	3.0€		100.0 kW		
		TARIFF CAL	ENDAR	CONFIGURA	TION				
		Т	1 Start 1	T1 End 1		T1 Start 2	T1 End 2		
Tariff T1 Inte	rval Working	Day	08 🔻	12 🔻		13 🔻	18 🔻		
Holidays	Mon	🔲 Tue	Wen	🔲 Thu	🗏 Fri	🖉 Sat	🗹 Sun		
All per	riod outside tariff T1 rang	je, are automatica	lly include	ed in the tariff T2	. All holidays are i	ncluded into	tariff T2.		

Plant characteristics

This page consists of three sections:

- 1. "*Description*": it displays the plant identification data (name, place and date of installation, etc. ...).
- 2. "Contract highlights": for each tariff the section specifies the fixed costs, the unit cost for both active (kWh) and reactive (kvarh) energy, the maximum contract power value for each individual tariff, and finally any additional cost (for each kW), should the maximum contract power be exceeded.
- 3. "*Tariff calendar configuration*": it displays the start/end time for each tariff. It also specifies the week days which shall be considered as holidays.

Note: any time periods not included in tariff "T1" are automatically included in tariff "T2". Days defined as "holidays" shall be entirely counted in tariff "T2".



11 DATA EXPORT

This section allows to export the data stored in VMU-C EM to an Excel file. Clicking on the "Export" icon in the Navigation menu grants access the following screen

			\$	i		*	R	?
	, manua	 		Incident		J. Ling		
			EXPO	RT DATA				
Time Pe	eriod							
Inter	val	27	-06-2014 .	27-06-20	14			
Mon	thly	J	une		▼ 2014	•		
O Year	ly	2	014					
I ALA	RMS							
C ENER	GY METER	E	M21_2			T	Average	•
O ENER	GY METER DC	E	M_DC_VIRTU	AL		•	Average	•
C TEM	PERATURE							
	LOGUE INPUT							
O PULS	SE RATE INPUT							
			Expo	ort Data				
			–					
			Exporting	g stored data				

This area allows to choose the type of data to be exported and the relevant period. To generate the file press the "*Export data*" button. File can be open or saved on one's own PC.

Data can be exported according to three different time frames:

- *Interval*: it allows to define the first and last day of the data export period. The period cannot <u>exceed 8 days</u>.
- *Monthly*: it allows to define the month for data export.
- Yearly: it allows to define the year for data export.

The types of data which can be exported to an EXCEL file are:

• "*Alarms*": A .xls file is generated, containing the history of all alarms which have occurred in the system, organized according to the same graphic layout as the



"Alarms" web section. The saved file name will be of the following type: "ALARMS_dd_mm_yyyy.xls"

"Energy meter AC" or "Energy meter DC": the system will export the electric values acquired by the instruments (AC or DC energy meters) connected to the VMU-C EM. The instrument whose values have to be exported must be selected from the relevant drop-down menu; also define the type of data to be exported (Average, Maximum or Minimum).

The generated Excel files contains the main values from the selected instrument.

		Contract to the second of the second s	the state of the second state of the second state of the	CONTRACTOR OF A CONTRACTOR OF	The second
Date	Tome	(AVG) Emergy Meter EM_VPETIAL (AVM)	LAVIE Energy Meter EM_VINITION. (AVVie)	(AVG) Energy Meter EM_VRITUAL (Averts)	(AVX) Energy Motor EM_VIIITUAL (kvarsys)
16/67/2013	00.000	468431,4	12,7	280078,8	-3,2
16/07/2013	09:05:00	468432,6	12.7	290079,4	-3,5
16/07/2913	00/10/20	468433,6	12,6	280079,8	-3,2
16/07/2013	69:15:00	468434,7	12,9	290680,4	-3,3
18/07/2013	09:20:00	468435,9	\$2,7	200000,8	2,6
16/07/2013	09:25:00	468436,9	12,8	280081,3	-2.9
16/07/2013	00,001,00	468437,9	12,7	280081,8	-3,2
18/07/2013	60125.00	468439,1	12,7	280082,2	
18-07/2013	89:40:00	468440,3	13,1	290092,9	-3.2
16/07/2013	60:45:00	468441,2	13,1	280063,2	-2,6
16/07/2013	005000	468442,5	14	280083,8	-1,4
168//12011	00:55:00	483443.6	12.3	200304.3	

The generated file will have the following structure:

Exported data table - data from EM instrument

- "Temperature": the selection allows to export the temperature values of all system sensors configured as active ("Enable"). In the generated Excel file, the first two columns contain the date and time; they are followed by as many columns as the amount of temperature sensors (for each individual recording interval, the file shall provide for each probe the average value calculated over the time interval).
- "Analogue input": the selection allows to export the values measured through the analogue inputs "mV" and/or "mA". In the generated Excel file, the first two columns contain the date and time; they are followed by as many columns as the amount of analogue inputs configured as active (Enable). For each recording interval and for each analogue input, the file shall provide the average value calculated over the time interval.

А	В	С	D
Date	Time	VMU-P [VMU-M_001] Analogue Input (L/min)	VMU-P [VMUC-EM] Analogue Input (pieces/h)
08/07/2013	14:45:00	0	0
08/07/2013	14:50:00	0	0
08/07/2013	14:55:00	0	0
08/07/2013	15:00:00	0	0
08/07/2013	15:05:00	0	0
08/07/2013	15:10:00	0	0
08/07/2013	15:15:00	0	0
08/07/2013	15:20:00	0	0

The generated file will have the following structure:

"*Pulse rate input*": the selection allows to export the speed and/or flow values measured through the digital inputs of the VMU-P modules. The first two columns of the generated Excel file will contain the date and time; they will be followed by as many columns as the amount of digital inputs enabled for this function.

The generated file will have the following structure:



Date	Time	VMU-P [VMU-M_001] Pulse Rate Input (m/s)	VMU-P [VMUC-EM] Pulse Rate Input ()
08/07/2013	04:45:00	0	0
08/07/2013	04:50:00	0	0
08/07/2013	04:55:00	0	0
08/07/2013	05:00:00	0	0
08/07/2013	05:05:00	0	0
08/07/2013	05:10:00	0	0
08/07/2013	05:15:00	0	0
08/07/2013	05:20:00	0	0





12 ACCOUNT

Clicking on the "Account" icon in the Navigation menu will grant access to the Account configuration section devoted to users management for access to system.

渝				\$	i		*	R	?		
Home	Monitor	Plant	Alarms	Economy	Information	Export	Setting	Account	Help		
								-			
	ACCOUNT MANAGEMENT										
NAME	- USER	- ONLINE						Log Users			
admin - ac	Imin - Connecte	ed									
Guest - us	er - Not Connec	cted od									
hes - hes	- Not Connecter	d d									
		-									
									~		
A	dd Account		Update Ac	count	Dele	te Account		Logoff Use	۶r		
	Account Menu										

12.1ACCOUNT MANAGEMENT

Accesses to the system are managed by creating two user types with different privileges.

- A. The "Administrator" type account has access to all software areas: "System configuration", "Account configuration", "Data display".
- B. The "User" type account is only allowed to access the "Data display" area.

The system has a default Administrator type user, with these characteristics:

Username	Password	Name
admin	admin	Administrator

It is recommended to modify the default user during the first configuration.

Note: An *Administrator* type user must always exist in the system; in its absence, access to System configuration and Account configuration areas will no longer be allowed. To restore the Administrator user, contact Carlo Gavazzi technical assistance.

To know which users are online just refer to the list displayed in the dotted area in Fig. 115. Logged-in users are shown in green and are marked with "Logged-in"; other users are shown in red and are marked with "Not logged-in".





Instruction manual

Press the "Add account" button. The following screen will be displayed in the bottom section of the page:

	ADD ACCOUNT	
NAME		
Username		
Password		
LEVEL	User •	
Add	Reset	Cancel



Fill in the fields according to the following specifications:

• "Name": Name of the user.

Note: We recommended that you never assign the same "Name" to two different users.

• "USERNAME": Username for access to the system.

Note: Two users with the same "Username" cannot be entered.

- "PASSWORD": Password for access to the system.
- "LEVEL": user level: User/Administrator.

Press "Reset" key to delete the contents of various fields; "Cancel" to cancel operation. Press "Add" key to enter account and add it to the list.

12.3UPDATING AN ACCOUNT

Select the account to be modified from the "Inserted accounts" list (Fig. 115). Press the "Update account" button. The following screen will be displayed in the bottom section of the page:

	UPDATE ACCOUNT	
NAME	Guest	
Username	user	
Password	••••	
LEVEL	User 🔻	
Save	Reset	Cancel

Update Account



Modify the settings as already described in paragraph "New account insertion" above, taking into account that the Username field cannot be edited. Press the "Reset" button to cancel the modifications; "Cancel" to cancel the operation. Press the "Save" button to modify the account.

12.4DELETING AN ACCOUNT

Select the account to be deleted from the list shown in Fig. 150. Press the "*Delete account*" button. The confirmation message appears on the centre of the page. Press "OK" key to confirm deletion or "Cancel operation" to cancel.

12.5LOGGING OFF AN ACCOUNT

The administrator user can disconnect a user included in the list by a forced log-off operation. To disconnect a user, displayed in green and with the "Logged-in" indication next to it, press the "*Log-off user*" button. All the users connected with that Username will disconnected and re-routed to the home page.

12.6HISTORY OF ACCESSES TO THE SYSTEM

Clicking on "Users Log" will open a window containing the history of the accesses to VMU-C-Box, including date and time . Rows in green show the users which are currently online.

User	Logged	IP	Last Login
admin	Connected	<u>192.168.3.104</u>	21-05-2014
admin	Connected	<u>88.32.230.180</u>	21-05-2014
admin	Not Connected	<u>88.32.230.180</u>	21-05-2014
admin	Not Connected	<u>88.32.230.180</u>	21-05-2014
admin	Not Connected	<u>88.32.230.180</u>	20-05-2014
admin	Not Connected	<u>88.32.230.180</u>	20-05-2014
admin	Not Connected	<u>88.32.230.180</u>	20-05-2014
admin	Not Connected	<u>88.32.230.180</u>	20-05-2014
admin	Not Connected	<u>88.32.230.180</u>	20-05-2014
admin	Not Connected	<u>88.32.230.180</u>	20-05-2014
admin	Not Connected	88.32.230.180	19-05-2014
admin	Not Connected	<u>88.32.230.180</u>	19-05-2014
admin	Not Connected	<u>192.168.3.76</u>	19-05-2014
admin	Not Connected	<u>192.168.3.75</u>	19-05-2014

Access LOG

The chronology keeps access data for a week; date and time refer to login phase. Click on the captured IP address to find the user's origin area.



13 DATA BACK-UP

Data back-up on external memory (optional)

Using a "Micro SD" or "SDHC" memory card appropriately inserted in the relevant slot or a PenDrive directly connected to the USB port $\frac{1}{7}$ you can back up the data existing in the VMU-C EM database.

Note: the Micro SD card is not supplied with VMU-C. VMU-C supports Micro SD or PenDrive cards whose capacity doesn't exceed 16GB.

- Micro SD installation
 - 1. Open the flap located on the front section of VMU-C EM. Identify the slot specifically designed for the insertion of the "Micro SD" memory



Slot for Micro SD cards

- 2. Insert the Micro SD card, making sure it is not write-protected and it is properly formatted (FAT32).
- 3. Close the flap back. <u>Warning</u>: if the flap is not properly closed VMU-C EM will not enable any writing or reading operation (flap closing is controlled by a micro switch located under the flap).
- 4. As soon as the flap is closed, VMU-C EM will install the newly inserted memory card and transfer the BACK-UP data. As long as the installation and writing operations are under way, the front "ON" LED (green) will blink. <u>Warning</u>: opening the flap during the writing stage will stop the data transfer process and might damage the Micro SD memory.



- Pen-drive installation
 - 1. Identify the USB port specifically designed for the insertion of the "Pen Drive" memory $_{\overline{\imath}}$



Slot for Micro SD cards

- 2. Insert the Pen-drive, making sure it is not write-protected and it is properly formatted (FAT32).
- 3. As soon as you have inserted the Pen-drive, VMU-C EM will install the memory and transfer the BACK-UP data. As long as the installation and writing operations are under way, the front "USB" LED (blue) will blink. <u>Warning</u>: disconnecting the Pen-drive during the writing stage will stop the data transfer process and might damage the memory.

The Back-up operation starts as soon as the memory device (micro SD or Pen Drive) is inserted. At the end of the operation, the memory device will contain a folder named VMUC_"VMU-C name" fig. 122), whose content is described below:

	 Computer Disco rimovibi 	le (F:) VMUC_BELLUNO
•	Condividi con 🔻 Maste	rizza Nuova cartella
No	me	Ultima modifica
B	cfg	04/09/2012 14:44
	db	30/08/2012 09:10
1	DriverWin_USB_Eth	30/08/2012 09:09
	ipAddress	04/09/2012 14:45
VMUCDATA_Week_2012-09-04.xls		xls 04/09/2012 14:45

VMU-C's backup folder content

Note: The name of the folder VMU-C EM automatically creates at switch-on (or when the memory device is inserted) consists of a fixed part "VMU-C, automatically followed by the name assigned to the VMU-C itself. For example, the folder name might be something like VMUC_BELLUNO. This operation, which VMU-C EM



performs automatically, will prevent the databases of different VMU-C from being overwritten.

- Folder "cfg"
- Folder "db"
- Folder "DriverWin_USB_Eth"
- File "ipAddress"
- EXCEL file "VMUCDATA week_....."

The "cfg" folder contains two files:

- <u>EWgeneral.db</u>: it contains the general system configuration, the IP address, the scheduled operations, the e-mail addresses for the sending of scheduled messages or in case of alarm, etc.
- 2) <u>EWplant.db</u>: it contains the plant configuration (the system configuration, installed modules, RS485 network addresses, threshold settings, etc.).

The "**db**" folder contains the whole VMU-C EM database. This folder contains all the data stored in VMU-C EM and updated as of 24:00 of the previous day. Should the VMU-C EM get damaged and have to be replaced, this folder allows to move the whole Database and the relevant configuration from the damaged instrument to the new one through a "**Disaster-Recovery**"-type function.

"DriverWin_USB_Eth" folder it contains a Windows driver allowing to connect the VMU-C EM to the PC through the mini USB communication port. In this case the reference address (fixed and not editable) is 192.168.254.254. To access the VMU-C EM through the mini USB port use a USB => mini USB cable and type through the browser in use the address 192.168.254.254; the log-in page will be displayed again.

"ipAddress" file: it contains the IP addresses of the connected devices.

Note: we recommend that you use "Notepad" to display this file.

EXCEL file "VMUCDATA week_.....": a file containing all the data logged by VMUC_EM in the last 7 days. The file (Fig. 123) will contain the following variables:

- Total active energy read by the reference energy meter (kWh)
- Average active power over the period read by the reference energy meter (kW)
- o Total reactive energy read by the reference energy meter (kvarh)
- Average reactive power over the period read by the reference energy meter (kvar)

Note: For all the variables mentioned above, the period corresponds to the logging interval set on VMU-C. This interval can be of: 5,10,15,30,60 minutes.

	A	в	C.	D	E
		Energy on period paud from energy	instantaneous Power (read from energy	Energy on period (read from energy	Instantineous Power (read from energy)
4	Date 2013-07-07	maters) (kwa)	minard (Ew)	meters) (Issetti)	meters) (kver)
4	00:00	0		.0	0
3	00.05	0	0		0
4	00.10	0	0	0	0
1	00:35	0	0	0	0
16	00.20	0	0	0	0
.7	00:25	0		0	0
	001:370	0	0	0	0
9	00.05	0	0	0	0

Excel backup file



If the memory device (micro SD or Pen Drive) is left inserted into VMU-C EM, at 12:00 a.m. o'clock VMU-C adds on a daily basis a new file containing the data of the just expired day (with the same formatting as the previous file).

Nome	Ultima modifica	Тіро	Dimensione
鷆 cfg	23/04/2012 12:43	Cartella di file	
DriverWin_USB_Eth	20/04/2012 15:24	Cartella di file	
ipAddress	23/04/2012 16:13	File	2 KB
WUCDATA_Day_2012-04-23.xls	23/04/2012 22:10	Foglio di lavoro di	49 KB
WUCDATA_Week_2012-04-23.xls	23/04/2012 16:14	Foglio di lavoro di	339 KB

New daily backup file



13.1 RESTORING THE CONFIGURATION FROM BACK-UP (FROM FILE)

If the VMU-C configuration has previously been saved on a PC, it can be re-imported by simply following the procedure described below:

 Click on the "SETUP" icon => Click on the "PLANT" button => Click on the "SETTING" button => Click on the "WIZARD" button => Click on the "IMPORT" button

The system will display the "Load configuration from file ..." mask ,

Load Configuration from File				
Select the file using the "Browse" button	Browse			
Im	port			
Configura	tion import			

To select the file you wish to import, use the "*Browse*" button to retrieve the configuration file previously saved on the PC.

As soon as the file has been selected, the "Import" item will be enabled.



13.2RESTORING THE DATA-BASE FROM BACK-UP (DISASTER RECOVERY)

If a memory pen or a micro SD memory card was inserted in VMU-C the following screen will be displayed:

SYSTEM	PLA	NT			SENSORS	
Load Configuration from File						
	Select the file using the "Browse" but	ton			Browse	
		Imp	port			
Import Configuration from IISB						
		VMUC_VMU-C		-		
	Import Plant Configuration				O Disaster Recovery	
		Imp	oort			
				-		
		VIVIOC_VIVIO-C				
	Import Plant Configuration				Disaster Recovery	
		Imp	oort			
Database Restore						

The screen in question allows to access two distinct operations:

- Import Plant Configuration
- Disaster Recovery

13.2.1 CONFIGURATION RESTORE

Performing this operation is equivalent to "Restoring the configuration from back-up". When an external memory device (Pen-drive or micro-SD) is inserted into VMU-C EM, a copy of the system configuration (Arrays modules and Energy Meters) is automatically created; the copy in question can then be imported through a special command.

Import Configuration from USB					
	VMUC_VMU-C	•			
Import Plant Configuration		O Disaster Recovery			
÷	i Im,	port			
Import Configuration from microSD					
	VMUC_VMU-C				
Import Plant Configuration		O Disaster Recovery			
·	Import				

Configuration Restore

13.2.2 DATABASE RESTORE (Disaster Recovery)

This operation allows to import into a VMU-C EM the Database of another VMU-C EM (this function can be very useful in case the device should have to be replaced as a consequence of a failure). The "Disaster Recovery" function imports into the new device all the data previously saved in the VMU-C EM which has failed (data-logger + events). This function is only available if the back-up memory (Pen-drive or micro-SD) remains constantly inserted into the VMU-C EM.

Import Configuration from USB						
	VMUC_VMU-C	•				
Import Plant Configuration			Disaster Recovery			
	Import		·			
Import Configuration from microSD						
	VMUC_VMU-C	•				
Import Plant Configuration			Disaster Recovery			
	Import		······			

Database Restore

